

HYDROGEN AS A MARINE FUEL



PANAGIOTA LEMONIA MORAITIS (MNS20005)

MASTER'S THESIS

MSc: Sustainability and Quality in Marine Industry Department of Maritime Studies University of Piraeus

Supervisor: Professor Ernestos Tzannatos

January 2022, Piraeus

DECLARATION OF AUTHENTICITY

"The person, who submits the Masters' dissertation is fully responsible for the definition of the fair use of the material, which is based upon the following factors: the purpose and nature of the use (commercial, non-profitable or educational), the nature of the material which is used (part of the text, boards, shapes, pictures or maps), the percentage and the significance of the part, which is used in comparison to the whole, under copyright text, and of the possible consequences of this use in the purchase or the overall value of the under copyright text."

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to express special thanks to my supervisor, Professor Ernestos Tzannatos, for his trust in assigning me one very interesting subject of study, as well as for his support, guidance, and overall insights in this field which have made this an inspiring experience for me. I would also like to thank Professor Fani Sakellariadou and Professor Anastasios Tselepides for taking the time to read my work. I would also like to thank my professors, who were always willing to listen and assist me during my Master's program. Lastly, I am grateful to my family, friends and especially Tassos for their steadfast support and patience over this academic year that assisted me in completing my dissertation.

To you (12/02/2021)..

ABSTRACT

Climate change is one of the most significant problems confronting our world, caused mostly by GHG emissions that trap heat in the earth's atmosphere, resulting in global warming. Shipping has a huge impact on global environmental pollution, notably air pollution. Countries are now pursuing aggressive GHG emission reduction measures as a result of the 2015 Paris Agreement. Furthermore, the IMO adopted an initial strategy in 2018 to reduce GHG emissions from international shipping by at least 50% from 2008 levels by 2050, with the objective of completely eliminating them. As a result, shipping's CO_2 emissions must be lowered in the next decades. One of the countermeasures for CO_2 emissions from ships is the use of hydrogen as an eco-friendly fuel.

The current study was focused on the development of a portfolio of hydrogen use as a marine fuel. It was found from 2000 until today 84 hydrogenpowered vessels projects. The Netherlands, Norway, and Germany appear to have the most hydrogen-powered boats with 19%, 18%, and 14%, respectively. FCs are the preferred hydrogen propulsion method with the most important being the PEMFC. Hydrogen is stored either as compressed gas at 350 bar, or in liquid form using a liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage system, or in solid form with metal hydrides. With a few exceptions, the ships are small in size and have a passenger capacity of roughly 6-300 people. There are various types of hydrogen-powered vessels, the majority of which are ferries. As long as the hydrogen is produced from renewable sources, the use of hydrogen as a marine fuel can offer a viable approach of reducing GHG emissions in a sustainable way.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	1. Introduction1				
1	1.1. Motivation and background1				
2.	2. Literature review				
2	2.1. Climate change			3	
2	.2.	2. Greenhouse effect			
2	.3.	. Ship pollution and marine fuels			
2	2.4. The choice of future marine fuels 1			13	
2	.5.	5. Legal framework			
2	2.6. Hydrogen as a marine fuel				
2		6.1.	Hydrogen production methods	34	
2		6.2.	Hydrogen storage, transportation, utilization, and bunkering.	39	
	2	6.3.	Hydrogen safety	46	
2.		6.4.	Hydrogen fuel cost	48	
3.	3. Portfolio of hydrogen use as a marine fuel50				
4.	. Results and discussion 106				
5.	Conclusions and recommendations 114				
6.	. References 116				

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Slow onset climate impacts
Table 2.2 Impacts in vulnerable sectors (UNFCCC, 2019)5
Table 2.3 Advantages and disadvantages of five (5) alternative marine fuels
(Kim et al., 2020)
Table 2.4 Regulations to reduce ship's emissions (IMO, 2021)
Table 2.5 Mechanisms of GHG emissions mitigation from ships (Manner, 2021). 19
Table 2.6 Hydrogen regulations, standards and guidance (IMO-Norway
GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021)
Table 2.7 International hydrogen standards (DNV, 2021)
Table 2.8 Hydrogen chemical, physical and thermal properties at 25°C (298 K)
& atmospheric pressure (Sundén, 2019)
Table 2.9 The basic characteristics of hydrogen storage methods (Nikolaidis
and Poullikkas, 2017)
Table 2.10 The main characteristics of the different types of FCs (EI-Gohary,
2013)
Table 2.11 Hydrogen fuel cost overview (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050
Project et al., 2021) 49
Table 4.1 Hydrogen use as a marine fuel. 110

TABLE OF CHARTS

Chart 2.1 Phase diagram for hydrogen - Critical point at 33 K (Züttel, 2004).	40
Chart 4.1 Countries with hydrogen as marine fuel projects	. 111
Chart 4.2 Type of hydrogen propulsion	. 112

TABLE OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Countermeasures for shipping CO ₂ emissions (Xing et al., 2020)	2
Figure 2.1 Climate system (Somerville et al., 2007)	3
Figure 2.2 Greenhouse effect (Elder, NPS, 2020)	7
Figure 2.3 Pollution from Ships (Andersson et al., 2016).	10
Figure 2.4 Transition of marine fuels from 1780 to 2100 (Andersson et al.,	
2016)	11
Figure 2.5 Criteria for future marine fuels (BRYNOLF, 2014)	13
Figure 2.6 Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs, 2019)	17
Figure 2.7 Elements of European Green Deal (EC, 2019).	18
Figure 2.8 Approval process for the preliminary design according to the	
Alternative Design approach in MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013 (DNV, 2021)	24
Figure 2.9 Approval process for the final design according to the Alternative	
Design approach in MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013 (DNV, 2021)	25
Figure 2.10 Fuel value chain (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al.,	
2021)	30
Figure 2.11 Technology readiness level (TRL) by EARTO (LR and UMAS,	
2020)	30
Figure 2.12 Fuel's lifecycle-GHG emissions (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050	
Project et al., 2021)	31
Figure 2.13 Hydrogen economy (Qyyum et al., 2021)	32
Figure 2.14 TRL ranking for Zero Emission Vessel technologies (LR and UMA	۱S,
2020)	33
Figure 2.15 Hydrogen production methods color codes.	34
Figure 2.16 Reforming (NCE MCT, 2019).	35
Figure 2.17 Electrolysis (NCE MCT, 2019)	38
Figure 3.1 Class 212A submarine (Thyssenkrupp, n.d.)	50
Figure 3.2 Class 214 submarine (Thyssenkrupp, n.d.)	50
Figure 3.3 Hydra water taxi (Sturm, 2016)	51
Figure 3.4 Hydrogenesis ferry (Bristol Hydrogen Boats, n.d.).	51
Figure 3.5 Ross Barlow canal boat (Book, 2013).	52
Figure 3.6 FCS Alsterwasser inland passenger vessel (Dirk, 2013)	53
Figure 3.7 Duffy-Herreshoff DH30 water taxi (Hydrogen House Project, n.d.).	54
Figure 3.8 Xperiance NX Hydrogen leisure boat (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016)	54
Figure 3.9 Nemo H_2 canal boat (Tronstad et al., 2017).	55
Figure 3.10 Gold Green Hygen tourist boat (Choi et al., 2016)	56
Figure 3.11 HYBRIDship project (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017)	57
Figure 3.12 FreeCO2ast project (Havyard, 2019).	58
Figure 3.13 Inland cargo vessel (Zulu) in France (FLAGSHIPS, 2021)	59
Figure 3.14 Passenger and car ferry (Hidle) in Norway (Enova, 2021)	59
Figure 3.15 FPS Waal container transport vessel (FLAGSHIPS, n.d.b)	59
Figure 3.16 Aero 42 H_2 fast ferry (Strømgren et al., 2017).	61
Figure 3.17 ULSTEIN SX190 Zero Emission DP2 vessel (ULSTEIN, 2021)	62

Figure 3.18 HySHIP project (Wilhelmsen, 2020a).	. 63
Figure 3.19 Hydrogen Hybrid Harbour Tug project (HHHT) (Green Tug) (Jong	J
and Corrignan, 2009)	. 64
Figure 3.20 MS Havenbeheer vessel (Lensing, 2020)	. 64
Figure 3.21 The new vessel Neo Orbis (Port of Amsterdam, 2021)	65
Figure 3.22 Hydroville catamaran (Saverys, 2020)	. 66
Figure 3.23 Hydrotug (Saverys, 2020)	. 66
Figure 3.24 HydroCat (Saverys, 2020)	. 67
Figure 3.25 HydroBingo (Saverys, 2020).	. 68
Figure 3.26 MF Vågen (Svendsen and Opdahl, 2017)	. 68
Figure 3.27 Elektra push boat (E4ships, n.d.).	. 69
Figure 3.28 Hornblower Hybrid (Hydrogenics, 2013).	. 69
Figure 3.29 SF-BREEZE ferry (Tronstad et al., 2017)	. 70
Figure 3.30 SEA CHANGE (Water-Go-Round, n.d.).	. 70
Figure 3.31 Kamine test boat (Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018)	. 71
Figure 3.32 Cobalt 233 Zet boat (Nonstop, 2008).	.72
Figure 3.33 Race for Water catamaran (Race for Water Foundation, 2018)	.72
Figure 3.34 MF HYDRA ferry (Westcon Yards AS, n.d.).	.73
Figure 3.35 GKP7H2 project (Reinertsen New Energy, 2018).	.74
Figure 3.36 Zero-V vessel (Madsen et al., 2020).	. 75
Figure 3.37 ZEFF (Zero Emission Fast Ferry) (NCE MCT, n.d.).	. 76
Figure 3.38 Rødne E-Maran project (Rødne, 2019).	. 76
Figure 3.39 Energy Observer vessel (Energy Observer, 2021a)	. 77
Figure 3.40 DeepC vehicle design (Hornfeld, 2003)	. 78
Figure 3.41 RoPax ferry (HySeas III, 2021)	. 78
Figure 3.42 AUV Urashima (Maeda et al., 2004)	. 79
Figure 3.43 Hydroxy 3000 (Büchi et al., 2004).	. 80
Figure 3.44 E5 tug (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019)	. 80
Figure 3.45 Elding I ship (Nonstop, 2008).	. 81
Figure 3.46 Research vessel Aranda (MARANDA, n.d.).	. 81
Figure 3.47 The passenger vessel (Vasquez, 2019).	. 82
Figure 3.48 VEGA/Pilot Vaporetto (Hydrogenics, 2013)	. 83
Figure 3.49 Solgenia research hybrid boat (Leiner, 2014)	. 84
Figure 3.50 Frauscher 600 Riviera HP (Barche Magazine, 2009)	. 84
Figure 3.51 BELBIM (Hydrogenics, 2013).	. 85
Figure 3.52 FPS Maas vessel (FPS, n.d.).	. 85
Figure 3.53 Marti boat (Hürrivet Daily News, 2011)	. 86
Figure 3.54 Jules Vernes 2. Navibus (Energy Observer, 2018).	. 86
Figure 3.55 Container feeder ship design (Plump et al., 2013).	. 87
Figure 3.56 Zero Emission ferry (Scandlines) (Rohde et al., 2013)	. 88
Figure 3.57 MF Ole Bull car ferry (Svendsen and Opdahl. 2017)	. 89
Figure 3.58 ZEUS–Zero Emission Ultimate Ship (FINCANTIERI SI. n.d.)	90
Figure 3.59 Hydro Motion boat (TU Delft Solar Boat Team. 2021)	.91
Figure 3.60 HYNOVA 40 (ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE, 2021b).	.91
J	~ .

Figure 3.61 Hydrogen electric cargo ship Antonie (De Laat, 2021)	. 92
Figure 3.62 Hydrogen-powered rescue boat (MSN, 2020)	. 92
Figure 3.63 Hydrogen-powered vessel for the Port of Narvik (TECO 2030 AS	SА,
2021)	. 93
Figure 3.64 ZEPS Patria (De Laat, 2021)	. 94
Figure 3.65 Ecolution (De Laat, 2021)	. 94
Figure 3.66 Hydrogen Watertaxi (De Laat, 2021)	. 95
Figure 3.67 H ₂ harbour tug (OSD-IMT, 2019)	. 95
Figure 3.68 Noe ferry (Coprexma, n.d.)	. 96
Figure 3.69 Cheetah Marine hydrogen catamaran (Cheetah Marine, 2016a).	. 96
Figure 3.70 Shapinsay ferry (HyDIME, n.d.)	. 97
Figure 3.71 CTV H ₂ PIRIOU (PIRIOU, 2020)	. 98
Figure 3.72 Coastal Liberty ship (ACTA MARINE, n.d.).	. 99
Figure 3.73 DFDS hydrogen ferry (DFDS, 2020)	100
Figure 3.74 With Orca vessel (Norwegian Ship Design, 2021)	100
Figure 3.75 Project SeaShuttle container vessel (Hyon, n.d.).	101
Figure 3.76 Project AQUA (Lateral Engineering, n.d.)	102
Figure 3.77 Royal IHC hydrogen dredger (Royal IHC, 2021)	103
Figure 3.78 ULSTEIN J102 jack-up WTIV (ULSTEIN, 2020)	104
Figure 3.79 VEZ–Vaporetto a Zero Emissioni boat (S.A.T.E., n.d.)	104
Figure 3.80 HYDROMER dredger (PIRIOU, 2021).	105
Figure 3.81 NYK Super Eco Ship 2050 (NYK Group, 2016)	105
Figure 5.1 MF HYDRA (Norled)-Ship of the year 2021 (Norled LinkedIn offici	al
page)	115

1. Introduction

1.1. Motivation and background

One of the major problems on our planet is climate change. A general definition of climate change could be the alteration in climate patterns mainly caused by greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions (Fawzy et al., 2020). GHG emissions cause heat that is trapped by the earth's atmosphere, and this has, as a result, global warming (Fawzy et al., 2020). These emissions originate mainly from natural systems (e.g. forest fires, oceans, wetlands, volcanoes, etc.) and human activities (Fawzy et al., 2020; YUE and GAO, 2018). Shipping is an important source of global environmental pollution and especially of the air (Ni et al., 2020).

Nowadays, due to the 2015 Paris Agreement, (the first binding agreement for all nations of which the goal is to limit global warming to well below 2°C, preferably to 1.5° C, compared to pre-industrial levels to combat climate change), ambitious actions on GHG emissions mitigation carry out by countries (UNFCCC, n.d.). Furthermore, in 2018, the International Maritime Organization (IMO) adopted an initial strategy to reduce GHG emissions from international shipping by at least 50% from 2008 levels by 2050 while it is trying to eliminate them (Selin et al., 2021; IMO, 2018). Hence, in the coming decades, a reduction of carbon dioxide (CO₂) emissions is required for shipping (Xing et al., 2020). Some countermeasures for CO₂ emissions from ships appeared in Fig. 1.1 below, one of which is hydrogen as an eco-friendly fuel.



*Alternative solution to conventional marine fuels.

Figure 1.1 Countermeasures for shipping CO₂ emissions (Xing et al., 2020).

2. Literature review

2.1. Climate change

The *climate system* covers the atmosphere, the ocean, the land, the cryosphere (ice and snow), and the biosphere (Fig. 2.1) and it is described by such characteristics as temperature, the amount of precipitation, air humidity and soil, the state of the snow and ice cover, and many others (Mikhaylov et al., 2020). Climate is most obviously characterized by the atmospheric component of the climate system and it is often defined as "average weather" (Somerville et al., 2007).



Figure 2.1 Climate system (Somerville et al., 2007).

The problem of climate change began with the industrial revolution at the beginning of the 20th century with a gradual increase in the average annual temperature of the planet (Mikhaylov et al., 2020). It is worth mentioning that the temperature of the Earth grew 0.5-1 °C in the last 100 years and the problem of climate change caused mainly by anthropological activities has become the most serious amongst environmental issues (Mikhaylov et al., 2020).

Climate risks mainly include floods, drought, extreme weather, and landslides, but there are also some slow-onset impacts, such as those in Table 2.1 (UNFCCC, 2019). Another issue due to climate impacts in combination with socio-economic or geographical conditions is vulnerability and it is often described in terms of the sectors most threatened by climate impacts, as shown in Table 2.2 (UNFCCC, 2019).

SLOW-ONSET CLIMATE IMPACTS
HIGHER TEMPERATURES
SEA LEVEL RISE
RAINFALL VARIABILITY
REDUCED RIVER FLOWS
CHANGING SEASONAL PATTERNS
CHANGES IN SPECIES DISTRIBUTION
INVASIVE SPECIES
CHANGES IN DISEASE DISTRIBUTION
SOIL AND COASTAL DEGRADATION, EROSION
DESERTIFICATION
OCEAN ACIDIFICATION, CORAL BLEACHING, SALT WATER INTRUSION, CHANGES IN OCEAN CIRCULATION PATTERNS, AND GLACIER OR PERMAFROST MELTING

Table 2.1 Slow onset climate impacts.

Sector	Observed and projected impacts		
Agriculture	 Increased frequency and severity of crop disease Increased soil erosion Losses in agricultural production and crop yield due to extrem weather 		
Water	 Changes in water distribution Reduced water availability and quality 		
Health	 > Hunger and malnutrition due to increased food insecurity > Increase in water-borne diseases such as diarrhea due to water scarcity > Increase in vector-borne diseases such as malaria due to higher temperatures > Mortality and morbidity due to extreme events 		
Forestry	 Increase or projected increase in forest fires Changes in the distribution of forest species 		
Biodiversity	 Changes in the timing and duration of growing seasons Changes in the distribution of species Species endangerment and extinction 		
Coastal zones	 Increased risk of flooding and inundation due to extreme weather Increased coastal erosion Changes to coastal ecosystems Alterations in sediment deposition patterns 		
Fisheries	 Changing population numbers and distribution because of ocean acidification and ocean circulation patterns Habitat loss and degradation for marine animals 		
Tourism	 Reduced winter tourist traffic due to reduced snow cover Archaeological sites and ancient buildings threatened by extreme weather Endangered tourist areas due to coastal erosion and sea level rise 		
Energy	 Challenges for thermal generation Higher demand for cooling Economic losses due to interruptions caused by extreme weather 		

Table 2.2 Impacts in vulnerable sectors (UNFCCC, 2019).

2.2. Greenhouse effect

The greenhouse effect is known as the warming of the Earth's troposphere, however, the concepts of "greenhouse effect" and "global warming" are not equal, but are interrelated, as the first is the cause of the second (Mikhaylov et al., 2020; Benson, 2008). The greenhouse effect is a natural phenomenon and the "natural" greenhouse heating turns the Earth from an enemy planet to life with a global mean temperature of -18°C into a habitable state with a global average temperature of +15°C (Jones and Henderson-Sellers, 1990).

One of the consequences of the greenhouse effect is its influence on the Earth's climate and especially on global warming (Mikhaylov et al., 2020). In general, global warming is a term that refers to the increase in Earth's average surface temperature due to the release of GHGs into the atmosphere (Benson, 2008). These GHGs are coming mostly from many human activities such as increased fossil fuel consumption, the increasing use of automobiles, the use of nitrogen-based fertilizers, and the rearing and breeding of large methane-belching cattle (Benson, 2008).

The basic greenhouse theory is that whilst gases in the Earth's atmosphere are transparent to incoming solar radiation, some of them absorb outgoing thermal (heat) radiation emitted from the Earth's surface (Jones and Henderson-Sellers, 1990). That causes those gases to warm, and consequently, they reradiate heat in all directions one of which is back down through the atmosphere to the surface (Jones and Henderson-Sellers, 1990) (Fig. 2.2). Mankind's activities are adding increasingly large amounts of these radiatively active gases to the atmosphere, therefore, this planet seems to be

[6]

committed to global-scale warming and many associated climatic shifts (Jones and Henderson-Sellers, 1990).



Figure 2.2 Greenhouse effect (Elder, NPS, 2020).

More specifically, GHGs such as CO₂, nitrous oxide (N₂O), water vapor, halocarbons {chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) and hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs)}, methane (CH₄), and ozone (O₃) absorb infrared radiation from the Earth's surface, then the stratosphere becomes warm and then re-emits infrared radiation back to the Earth's surface, altering the heat balance of the Earth (Benson, 2008). The basic GHGs that enter the atmosphere are the CO₂, CH₄, N₂O, and fluorinated gases and their emissions in 2019 in the United States were about 80% of CO₂, 10% of CH₄, 7% of N₂O, and 3% of fluorinated gases (USEPA, 2021). The effect on climate change of each gas depends mainly on the answer to the three following questions (USEPA, 2021):

- 1. How much is in the atmosphere?
- 2. How long do they stay in the atmosphere?
- 3. How strongly do they impact the atmosphere?

The main sources of the basic GHGs emissions are described below:



It is worth noting that shipping is a major source of CO₂ and other GHGs and if global shipping was a country, it would be in the sixth row of the ranking of the largest producer of GHG emissions (Harrould-Kolieb, 2008). On 15 July 2011, IMO adopted, via the International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL), the first set of international **mandatory** measures to improve ships' energy efficiency {Energy Efficiency Design Index (EEDI) for new ships, Ship Energy Efficiency Management Plan (SEEMP) for all ships} (IMO, 2021). Since then, IMO is making a decade of action on cutting GHG emissions from shipping with a package of mandatory measures combined with implementation support (projects) (IMO, 2021).

2.3. Ship pollution and marine fuels

Ships have various impacts on the environment, the main of them shown in Fig. 2.3 (Andersson et al., 2016). The two major categories include discharges into the sea and air pollution. Marine fuels contribute to both main categories of the impacts on the environment from the vessels. This marine fuels pollution is caused by oil spills and emissions to the air from ships {e.g. CO_2 , carbon monoxide (CO), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), hydrocarbons (HCs), sulfur dioxide (SO₂), and particulate matter (PM)} (Andersson et al., 2016).



Figure 2.3 Pollution from Ships (Andersson et al., 2016).

More specifically, ship movement through water requires thrust, which is generated in several methods (Andersson et al., 2016). Most of the commercial fleet is converting the chemical energy contained in fuel into ship thrust (Andersson et al., 2016). More specifically, the process involves the conversion of the chemical energy of the fuel to thermal energy through the combustion of the fuel-air mixture and in turn, the conversion of the thermal to mechanical energy based on a thermodynamic cycle that ultimately manifests itself as ship thrust (Andersson et al., 2016).

The technologies that are used as prime movers for ships to produce mechanical power are mostly diesel engines, gas turbines, and steam turbines (Andersson et al., 2016). Prime mover generates mechanical power, then mechanical power is transferred to the propeller by the propeller shaft and the thrust bearing and then the thrust shaft transmits the thrust generated by the propeller to the hull (Andersson et al., 2016).

[10]

Marine propulsion engines cause environmental impacts with particular reference to the atmospheric environment. Namely, most exhaust emissions from ships are produced by the combustion process and are dependent on the combustion process, the fuel used, and the engine (Andersson et al., 2016). On the other hand, operational oil pollution originates from various sources, such as bilge water, propeller shaft bearings, and accidental oil spills from the transportation of fuels in tanker vessels and from fuel used for propulsion (Andersson et al., 2016).

Marine propulsion has changed throughout the years (Fig. 2.4) (Andersson et al., 2016). The first fuels at the beginning of the nineteenth century were made from coal and were used for steam engines and steam turbines (Andersson et al., 2016). Before that, shipping was powered by wind and manpower (Fridell, 2019). Over the years, most steam engines were replaced with marine engines fuelled by diesel and residual oil or heavy fuel oil (HFO) (Andersson et al., 2016).



Figure 2.4 Transition of marine fuels from 1780 to 2100 (Andersson et al., 2016).

The main fuels in the shipping industry are the residual type of fuels {marine fuel oil (MFO), or HFO} (Tijdgat, 2020). The residual fuels also include low sulfur heavy fuels oil (LSHFO), and ultra-low sulfur fuel oil (ULSFO), while there are also distillate fuels which include marine gas oil (MGO) and marine diesel oil (MDO) (Tijdgat, 2020). HFO is the dominant shipping fuel, however, several alternative fuels have come to the fore, including liquefied natural gas (LNG), biodiesel, methanol and glycerol, hydrogen, ammonia, biofuel, and electricity (Andersson et al., 2016; Kim et al., 2020). However, electricity is not a fuel, but it is defined as a fuel because battery-electric propulsion is an important technology that has already been applied to vessels to mitigate GHG emissions (Kim et al., 2020). The advantages and disadvantages of five selected alternative marine fuels (LNG, hydrogen, ammonia, biofuel, and electricity produced by battery) will be presented below in Table 2.3 (Kim et al., 2020).

Alternative fuel	Advantages	Disadvantages
LNG	 Competitive fuel price Available infrastructure and technologies 	 Must be stored at insulated tanks Cannot comply with 50% CO2 reduction
Hydrogen	 Enable zero-emission (with fuel-cell) Can be produced from electrolysis near ports 	 High fuel price No available piston engine and infrastructure Must be stored at extremely low tem- perature (liquefied hydrogen)
Ammonia	 Can be used in various combustion engines as well as fuel cells Can be stored relatively low pressure and high temperature (liquefied ammonia) 	 Toxicity and environmental impact when leaked Need to add hydrogen when used for internal combustion engines
Biofuel	 Can be carbon neutral Compatible with existing infrastructure and engine systems 	 High fuel price Limited production volume
Electricity produced by Battery	Enable zero-emissionHigh efficiency	 Low energy density of mass and volumetric density High CapEx

Table 2.3 Advantages and disadvantages of five (5) alternative marine fuels (Kim et al., 2020).

2.4. The choice of future marine fuels

Choosing the future marine fuels depends on various aspects such as efficiency, safety, costs, and environmental aspects (BRYNOLF, 2014). The criteria for selecting future marine fuels are divided into four groups i.e. technical, economic, environmental, and other criteria and some of them involve minimum levels that must be satisfied (see Fig. 2.5) (BRYNOLF, 2014).



Figure 2.5 Criteria for future marine fuels (BRYNOLF, 2014).

The **technical criteria** concern the technical system associated with the fuel, which includes *engines*, *storage tanks*, *pumps*, *pipes*, and *exhaust funnel*, the *bunkering ships*, and the *fuel storage terminal* (BRYNOLF, 2014). Aspects that could consider are the fuel properties (e.g. indication of the ignition quality, the tendency of the fuel to detonate during combustion, energy density, boiling point, etc.), the propulsion systems, and the fuel pre-treatment requirements (BRYNOLF, 2014).

Regarding the **environmental criteria**, the fuel needs to fulfill the environmental regulations regarding the air emissions and its environmental life cycle performance to be acceptable (BRYNOLF, 2014). Aspects that could consider can be the total extracted energy, the global warming potential (GWP), and the consequences of fuel leaks (BRYNOLF, 2014).

Economic criteria are the investment costs (e.g. engines), the operational costs (e.g. maintenance, crew), and the price of fuel (BRYNOLF, 2014). **Other criteria** include logistics (e.g. requirements concerning the market, flexibility of production), safety (e.g. risk of explosion, fire, health hazards), security, public opinion (like the demand for sustainable transportation), ethics, and political and strategic aspects (like new jobs by producing a fuel locally) (BRYNOLF, 2014).

2.5. Legal framework

Sustainable development was first officially defined by the United Nations (UN) Brundtland Commission report "Our Common Future" in 1987 with the definition that "sustainable development is development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Brundtland Commission, 1987; Manner, 2021). Regarding the shipping sector, achieving sustainable development objectives requires innovative solutions to tackle emission reduction targets (Manner, 2021).

The regulatory framework for climate change focuses on the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), which was adopted in Rio de Janeiro in 1992 and entered into force in 1994, and is the core on which subsequent agreements and tools for combating climate change have been developed (Carpenter et al., 2021). The UNFCCC's ultimate objective is to stabilize GHG concentrations in the atmosphere "at a level that would prevent dangerous anthropogenic interference with the climate system" (UNFCCC 1992, Art. 2). However, UNFCCC commitments include controlling, reducing, or preventing GHGs emissions from human activities not controlled by the Montreal Protocol in all relevant sectors, including transport (UNFCCC 1992, Art. 4.1(c)).

GHG emissions from the shipping sector were handled through the Kyoto Protocol (Andersson et al., 2016). The Kyoto Protocol pursues limitation or reduction of GHGs emissions not controlled by the Montreal Protocol from marine bunker fuels through the IMO (Kyoto Protocol 1997, Art. 2.2). IMO, so far, is completing ten years of action from the first set of international mandatory measures on cutting GHG emissions from shipping, however, IMO was discussing air pollution issues from ships since the 1970s (Table 2.4) (IMO, 2021). Furthermore, the Paris Agreement was adopted in 2015 to enhance the implementation of the UNFCCC regarding the global response to climate change maintaining the global average temperature rise to well below 2°C, ideally at 1.5°C, above pre-industrial levels (Manner, 2021; Paris Agreement 2015, Art. 2(1); Paris Agreement 2015, Art. 2(1)(a)).

[15]

YEAR	REGULATIONS
1970s	Discussion for controlling air pollution from ships at IMO.
1988	Inclusion of air pollution issue in Marine Environment Protection Committee (MEPC) work programme.
<u>1991</u>	Adoption of Assembly Resolution A.719(17) by IMO on Prevention of Air Pollution from Ships & appeal of the Resolution to the MEPC to prepare a new draft Annex to MARPOL to prevent air pollution.
1997	Kyoto Protocol operationalized the UNFCCC by committing industrialized countries and economies in transition to reduce GHGs emissions.
1997	IMO adopted MARPOL Annex VI on regulations for the prevention of air pollution from ships.
1997	Consideration of MEPC on CO ₂ reduction strategies.
1997	IMO and UNFCCC undertook a study of CO_2 emissions from ships as part of the global inventory of CO_2 emissions.
2011	MARPOL Annex VI Parties adopted mandatory energy efficiency regulations for ships (EEDI for new ships and SEEMP for all ships).
2016	IMO's adoption of the mandatory IMO Data Collection System (DCS) for ships to collect and report fuel oil consumption data from ships over 5,000 gross tonnage (gt).
2018	IMO's adoption of the Initial Strategy on the reduction of GHG emissions (annual emissions) from international shipping by at least 50% by 2050, compared with their level in 2008 and reducing the <u>carbon intensity</u> of international shipping by at least 40% by 2030, and 70% by 2050, compared to 2008.
2021	IMO's adoption of the a)Energy Efficiency Existing Ship Index (EEXI) for all ships, b) the annual operational carbon intensity indicator (CII) for ships over 5,000 gt and c) CII rating, to cut the <u>carbon intensity</u> of all ships by at least 40% by 2030, in line with the IMO Initial Strategy.

Table 2.4 Regulations to reduce ship's emissions (IMO, 2021).

IMO is also connected with the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, as eight of the Agenda's Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 13, 14, and 17) (Fig. 2.6) are relevant to IMO's technical assistance work (TC.1/Circ.69, 2017). For example, IMO's Technical Assistance develops training programs on GHG emissions and SDG number 13 relates to action to combat climate change (TC.1/Circ.69, 2017).



Figure 2.6 Sustainable Development Goals (UN SDGs, 2019).

<u>Environmental law</u> is also very important regarding sustainable development and tackling climate change (Manner, 2021). The principles of **environmental law** are directly in the context of addressing the roles and responsibilities associated with reducing GHG emissions in shipping (Manner, 2021). <u>European</u> <u>Union (EU) policy on the environment</u> is based on the *precautionary principle* and the principles that *preventive* action should be taken, that environmental damage should first be *rectified at the source*, and that *the polluter should pay* (EU, 2016). In order to transform the EU into a capable society to tackle climate and environmental-related challenges, the <u>European Green Deal</u> (Fig. 2.7) comes to the fore by the European Commission (EC) (EC, 2019). According to the Green Deal, a 90% reduction in transport emissions is needed by 2050 and EC adopted a <u>Sustainable and Smart Mobility Strategy</u> in 2020 to tackle all emission sources (EC, 2019). In order to be in legislation the goal of climate neutrality by 2050 set out in the European Green Deal, the EC proposed the <u>European Climate Law</u> so it is irreversible (EC, 2019). Some of the mechanisms that are deployed to implement the GHG reductions objectives from ships are shown in Table 2.5 below.



Figure 2.7 Elements of European Green Deal (EC, 2019).

MECHANISMS OF GHG EMISSIONS MITIGATION FROM SHIPS

The Fourth IMO GHG Study 2020

IMO Market-Based Measures (MBMs)

EU MRV Regulation (2015/757) for the monitoring, reporting, and verification of (CO_2) emissions

IMO Data Collection System (DCS) for fuel oil consumption of ships

EEDI (mandatory technical standards for new ships)

SEEMP (mandatory for all ships)

Energy Efficiency Operational Indicator (EEOI) (voluntary monitoring tool)

EEXI (similar requirements as EEDI to all existing ships)

EU Emission Trading System (ETS)

International Maritime Research and Development Board (IMRB) (aims at accelerating low-carbon and zero-carbon technologies and fuels)

Table 2.5 Mechanisms of GHG emissions mitigation from ships (Manner, 2021).

Should also be noted that all transport modes, including maritime transport, which has a critical role in the European economy, will have to contribute to the reduction efforts (EC, 2021b). In addition, both increased energy efficiency (less energy) and renewable and low-carbon fuels (cleaner types of energy) are required to be achieved a significant reduction in CO_2 emissions of international maritime transport (EC, 2021b). Hydrogen can be used as a fuel, does not emit CO_2 and almost no air pollution when used, and enjoys rapidly growing attention in Europe and around the world (EC, 2020). Furthermore, there is the European Clean Hydrogen Alliance that has a crucial role in implementing a hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe and will

help to escalate investments in production and demand for renewable sources and low carbon hydrogen (EC, 2020).

Today, there are no regulatory requirements available for <u>hydrogen as a</u> <u>marine fuel</u> (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021). In general, regulations, standards and guidance regarding hydrogen are shown in Table 2.6 below (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021).

Regulations, standards and guidance			
Body/ Organisation	Documentation	Status/Comment	
ΙΜΟ	The International Code of Safety for Ships using Gases or other Low-flashpoint Fuels (IGF Code)	The current edition does not include hydrogen storage or hydrogen as fuel. So, the <i>alternative design approach</i> in accordance with <i>International Convention for</i> <i>the Safety of Life at Sea (SOLAS) Regulation</i> <i>II-1/55</i> must be followed for hydrogen storage and use.	
		The International Code of the Construction and Equipment of Ships Carrying Liquefied Gases in Bulk (IGC Code) and IGF Code cover the storage of liquefied gas on board ships, and the C-tank rules in principle cover liquid hydrogen (LH ₂).	
International Organization for Standardization (ISO)	ISO/TR 15916:2015 (Technical Report)	Guidelines for the use and storage of gaseous hydrogen (GH ₂)/LH ₂ . Identifies basic safety concerns, hazards and risks, describes properties of hydrogen relevant to safety.	
ISO	ISO 20519 - "Ships and marine technology - Specification for bunkering of gas fueled ships"	Under preparation for its final publication. There are presently no bunkering and port regulations in place for bunkering hydrogen fuel. Bunkering of hydrogen-powered ships is subject to national regulations and must thus be assessed on a case-by-case basis.	
ISO	ISO 14687	Hydrogen purity regulation.	
DNVGL Rules for Classification	Ships–Part 6 Chapter 2 Section 3–Fuel Cell Installations	Although there is no binding international regulatory framework for maritime fuel cell (FC) applications, this can be used to categorize ships equipped with FCs as FC(Power) or FC(Safety).	

Table 2.6 Hydrogen regulations, standards and guidance (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050

Project et al., 2021).

[20]

Regulations, codes, and directives are legally binding requirements (mandatory) imposed by legislative bodies (DNV, 2021). Directives are implemented at EU level and are not utilized as a tool by the IMO (DNV, 2021). Standards, guidelines, and codes of practice, on the other hand, are optional documents (voluntary) unless required by the regulations (DNV, 2021). Maritime regulations and rules are divided into International regulations developed by IMO, National regulations, and Class rules (DNV, 2021).

More specifically, the United Nations agency called <u>IMO</u> is the global authority for setting standards for the safety, security, and environmental performance of international shipping (DNV, 2021). The whole shipping industry follows the regulatory framework that is created by the IMO which covers all aspects of international shipping (ship design, construction, equipment, manning, operation and disposal) (DNV, 2021).

<u>SOLAS</u> sets internationally adopted minimum requirements for the construction, equipment, and operation of ships and Flag States must ensure that these minimum requirements are met. (DNV, 2021). Several Codes become mandatory under SOLAS and usually include detailed technical requirements for specific vessel types (DNV, 2021).

Regarding hydrogen as a marine fuel, there are no specific prescriptive rules and regulations yet, but through SOLAS II-I opens the path for a structured design process (the "Alternative Design" approach) based on risk assessments {like Hazard Identification study (HAZID), Technology Qualification (TQ), Quantitative Risk Analysis (QRA), Explosion Risk Analysis (ERA)} in cases where a ship deviates from the prescribed rules (DNV, 2021).

[21]

The main idea behind this is that the chosen solution is providing an equivalent safety level to the one required in SOLAS (DNV, 2021).

The <u>Marine Safety Committee (MSC)</u>, which is a sub-committee of the IMO, has a Sub-Committee on Carriage of Cargo and Containers (CCC) that is responsible for work on the IGF Code (DNV, 2021). The IGF Code provides the regulatory framework for adapting low-flashpoint marine fuels like hydrogen and the basis for accepting that an Alternative Design approach is used to verify compliance for ships using gas fuels other than LNG such as hydrogen (DNV, 2021). FCs are expected to be included in the IGF Code in the future in Chapter E as an Amendment of this code (around 2028) (DNV, 2021). In the meantime, FCs will be covered through interim guidelines because of that more experience with FCs is needed before regulations will be included in a revision of the IGF Code (DNV, 2021). Regarding the storage of hydrogen as fuel has not initiated in IMO (DNV, 2021).

The <u>IGF Code</u> is the main international code applicable to hydrogen fueled SOLAS vessels and is considered a mandatory regulation for all cargo ships with and over 500 of gt (DNV, 2021). It is also applicable on passenger vessels using low-flashpoint fuels (flashpoint below 60°C) (DNV, 2021). These ships must have international safety certificates (DNV, 2021). While the IGF Code does contain requirements for LNG as a fuel, all other fuels have to stick by the IGF's "Alternative Design" approach (DNV, 2021). At this point should be clarified that for gas carriers, the IGC Code Chapter 16 applies, not the IGF Code (DNV, 2021).

The "Alternative Design" approach means that although the IGF Code does not contain specific requirements for fuels other than LNG, the other fuels

[22]

can indeed be used if proven that the safety levels of the ship using the other fuels are equal to a ship using conventional fuel (DNV, 2021). For this exact reason, the approval process has a high degree of variance (DNV, 2021).

<u>Different Classification Societies</u> have designed their own rules regarding FC installations, which do not cover the storage and distribution of low-flashpoint fuels but specify requirements for FC power installation (DNV, 2021). In order to ease the process of "Alternative Design," the <u>Flag Administrations</u> can choose to accept the Class rules if they are deemed that they cover all the safety aspects (DNV, 2021).

The <u>IGF Code Part A</u> states that a low-flashpoint fuel (like hydrogen) can be used as long as the systems that are specifically designed for the lowflashpoint fuel are in accordance with the Alternative Design approach, meaning that both the reliability and the safety levels for those systems are deemed safe compared with the systems used in conventional ships (DNV, 2021). The way that this risk equivalence shall be demonstrated, is specified by the SOLAS regulation II-1/55 and this needs to be approved by the Administration (DNV, 2021). SOLAS regulation II-1/55 refers to the process specified in MSC.1/Circ 1455 (MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013; DNV, 2021). The IGF Code Part A contains in Paragraph 3.2 functional requirements for the use of low-flashpoint fuels (MSC 95/22/Add.1, 2015; DNV, 2021). It also contains in Paragraph 4.2 requirements about the risk assessments and in Paragraph 4.3 the explosion consequences to ensure that risks are eliminated/mitigated wherever possible (MSC 95/22/Add.1, 2015; DNV, 2021).

The <u>approval process</u>, as stated beforehand, is based mainly on risk and safety (DNV, 2021). Since new technologies are being used there are no set

[23]

regulations in place (DNV, 2021). As such the design for a hydrogen fuelled ship for example, needs to be highly comprehensive and more often than not quite costly (DNV, 2021). Although the "Alternative Design" has been used in the past and is not specific for low-flashpoint fuels like hydrogen, it does offer solutions that are not covered by rules as it was developed for new technologies and as such offers more leeway (DNV, 2021). The approval process (Alternative Design approval process) is split into two phases, phase 1 (Fig. 2.8) being the preliminary design (Development of a preliminary design and Approval of preliminary design) while phase 2 (Fig. 2.9) is the development of the final design (Development of final design, Final design testing and analyses and Approval (DNV, 2021).



Figure 2.8 Approval process for the preliminary design according to the Alternative Design approach in MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013 (DNV, 2021).



Figure 2.9 Approval process for the final design according to the Alternative Design approach in MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013 (DNV, 2021).

The general purpose of the IGF Code Part A and the Alternative Design approach is for hydrogen systems to have the same level of safety, reliability, and dependability as new and comparable conventional oil-fueled main and auxiliary machinery (DNV, 2021). The equivalency of the Alternative Design must be shown as stipulated in SOLAS regulation II-1/55, and the process is defined in Circ.1455 (MSC.1/Circ 1455, 2013; DNV, 2021). Neither of these documents specifies which approach or what level of detail should be utilized in showing safety equivalency (DNV, 2021).

The equivalent solutions depend on existing arrangements that are fully covered by regulations and could be placed on board under consideration in accordance with the applicable regulations (DNV, 2021). These could be sometimes the redesign of preventive and mitigating measures based on a
selected "worst case" that may not be risk-based (DNV, 2021). Regarding hydrogen, a small hydrogen leak can result in unacceptable scenarios and a worst-case leak size can result in a "showstopper" event for the hydrogen-fuelled ship. Therefore, through a risk-based approach could assess all possible leak sizes up to full-bore rupture of the hydrogen piping and equipment (DNV, 2021). The current hydrogen fuel systems are "new" and "unproven" for maritime applications and there is no adequate regulatory framework, so a Quantitative Risk Analysis (QRA) is needed (DNV, 2021).

For use in the IMO rule-making process, the IMO provides the Guidelines for Formal Safety Assessment (FSA) (MSC98/23/Add.2, 2018), a tool that frames the use of risk analysis and cost-benefit assessment techniques (DNV, 2021). MSC-MEPC.2/Circ.12/Rev.2 (MSC98/23/Add.2, 2018) is the most recent revision of the FSA guidelines. The FSA guidelines offer risk-evaluation criteria based on an individual risk and Societal Risk/FN Diagram, which is the standard foundation for the application of such criteria in the maritime industry (DNV, 2021).

The individual risk depends upon whether the risk is taken involuntarily or voluntarily, and whether or not the individual has control over the risk (DNV, 2021). An example could be that passengers are involuntarily exposed to risks while crew members can be aware and may have control over the same risks (DNV, 2021). Regarding the societal risk, the perception is that a single accident that kills 1000 people is worse than 1000 accidents that kill a single person (MSC98/23/Add.2, 2018) and it is expressed by an FN diagram that shows the relationship between the frequency of an accident and the number of

[26]

fatalities (DNV, 2021). A QRA is required to determine the ship's societal risk (FN curve) (DNV, 2021).

An explosion risk analysis (ERA) is used to give input to the QRA to calculate the total risk/FN curve (DNV, 2021). This combined QRA and ERA approach (NORSOK QRA and ERA approach) has become standard for the North Sea oil and gas processing platforms and many regions around the world (internationally) use it as well (DNV, 2021). The ERA is a probabilistic approach for explosions because they can have unacceptable outcomes (DNV, 2021). It is used to order these occurrences by frequency and demonstrate that these unacceptable events will not occur with a frequency higher than the acceptance frequency (DNV, 2021). The results from the method set the Design Accidental Load (DAL) (DNV, 2021). Despite the fact that calculating a societal risk curve for the entire ship is a lengthy process, it is possible to run sensitivities and test different mitigating measures without having to calculate the FN curve each time, which is consistent with the Cost-Benefit principles outlined in the FSA approach (DNV, 2021).

Classification Societies' rules are often more thorough and explicit in order to represent the level of safety required by international regulations such as the SOLAS Convention (DNV, 2021). Existing class rules can therefore facilitate the Alternative Design process, provided the rules are recognized by the appropriate Administration (DNV, 2021). Some of the international hydrogen standards that are relevant for introducing hydrogen as ship fuel are shown in Table 2.7 below.

[27]

INTERNATIONAL HYDROGEN STANDARDS							
ORGANISATION	DOCUMENTATION	COMMENT					
ISO							
	ISO/TC 197-Hydrogen technologies (Technical Committee)	Standardization of systems and devices for hydrogen generation, storage, transportation, measurement, and usage. These standards are not commonly utilized in the maritime industry.					
	ISO 19885 series	Recently planned and launched project of a three- standards package under this series for GH ₂ fuelling protocols for hydrogen- fuelled vehicles. The basic principles can be applied to the bunkering of maritime vessels, though a separate standard should be developed within this series specifically for maritime applications.					
	ISO 19886	LH_2 fuelling protocols. This is a placeholder for future new work item proposals for LH_2 bunkering operations.					
	ISO/TR 15916	Safety-relevant properties and related considerations for hydrogen.					
	ISO/TC 220	A standard for cryogenic land-based insulated storage vessels (vacuum or non-vacuum) for storage and transport of refrigerated liquefied gases. It also addresses vessel design and safety, gas/material compatibility, insulation performance, and equipment operational requirements.					
	ISO 19880-3:2018	GH ₂ – Fuelling stations.					
	ISO 26142:2010	Hydrogen detection apparatus – Stationary applications.					
	ISO 15649:2001	Hydrogen piping network.					
	ISO 19882:2018	GH ₂ -Pressure-relief devices.					

International Electrotechnical Commission (IEC)		
	IEC/TC 105 Fuel Cells	Hydrogen energy and FC technologies.
	IEC 60079-10-1:2015	It covers the classification of areas where flammable gas concentrations may cause an ignition hazard.
American Society of Mechanical Engineers (ASME)		
	ASME B31.12	Hydrogen piping, material compatibility
Compressed Gas Association (CGA)		
	CGA G-5-2017 Hydrogen	Information on the physical and chemical properties of hydrogen, and its proper handling and use.
	CGA G-5.4-2019 Standard for Hydrogen Piping Systems at User Locations	Principles recommended for compressed GH_2 and LH_2 piping systems.
	CGA G-5.5-2014 Hydrogen Vent Systems	It provides design guidelines for hydrogen vent systems for compressed GH ₂ and LH ₂ systems, and provides recommendations for safe operation of such vents.

Table 2.7 International hydrogen standards (DNV, 2021).

2.6. Hydrogen as a marine fuel

In order to examine hydrogen as a marine fuel, it is necessary to take into account a holistic approach, which includes all activities required to produce this specific fuel and how to use it (Fig. 2.10), the development stages of the particular technology (Fig. 2.11) and the fuel's lifecycle regarding the GHG emissions (Fig. 2.12).



Figure 2.10 Fuel value chain (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021).



Figure 2.11 Technology readiness level (TRL) by EARTO (LR and UMAS, 2020).



Figure 2.12 Fuel's lifecycle-GHG emissions (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021).

In the universe, the most abundant chemical element is hydrogen (Sartbaeva et al., 2008). Nevertheless on Earth, hydrogen is produced from other hydrogen-containing sources using energy, as it is invariably bound up in chemical compounds with other elements (Edwards et al., 2007; Sartbaeva et al., 2008). Hydrogen can be produced from nuclear sources, carbon sources such as natural gas and coal, or renewable sources such as water, biomass, solar, and wind and it covers a whole economy (Fig. 2.13) (Qyyum et al., 2021).



Figure 2.13 Hydrogen economy (Qyyum et al., 2021).

Some of the chemical, physical and thermal properties of hydrogen are provided in Table 2.8 below. In addition, the latest TRLs of hydrogen technology regarding the hydrogen-powered vessels are provided in figure 2.14 below.

Property and unit	Value
Molecular weight (kg/kmol) (H ₂)	2.016
Specific volume (m ³ /kg)	12.1
Density (kg/m ³)	0.0824
Viscosity (kg/ms)	9·10 ⁻⁶
Sound velocity in gas (m/s)	1315
Specific heat cp (J/kgK)	14310
Specific heat ratio	1.405
Gas constant (J/kgK)	4126
Thermal conductivity (W/mK)	0182
Boiling point-saturation pressure 760 mm Hg (K, °C)	20.4, -252.6
Latent heat of evaporation at boiling point (J/kg)	447000
Freezing or melting point at 760 mm Hg	-259.1
Latent heat of fusion (J/kg)	58000
Critical temperature	-240.0
Critical pressure (MPa)	1.30
Heat of combustion (kJ/kg)	144000

Table 2.8 Hydrogen chemical, physical and thermal properties at 25°C (298 K) &

atmospheric pressure (Sundén, 2019).

[32]

TRL	Bunk	ering		Storage onboard				Processing and conversion			Propulsion				
	Equipment	Procedures	Fuel quality standards	Structural tank	Membrane containment system	IMO type A tank	IMO type B tank	IMO type C tank	Venting system	Fuel supply system	Reformer	2-Stroke ICE	4-Stroke ICE	FC	Boiler
LSHFO ICE reference ship	9	9	9	9					9	9		9	9		9
Bio-diesel ICE •	9	9	9	9					9	9		9	9		9
E-diesel ICE	9	9	9	9					9	9		9	9		9
Bio-methanol ICE	7	6	3	7					7	7		7	6		2
E-methanol ICE	7	6	3	7					7	7		7	6		2
Bio-methanol FC 🍍	7	6	3	7					7	7	3		6	7	2
E-methanol FC •	7	6	3	7					7	7	3		6	7	2
Bio-LNG ICE •	9	9	9		8		9	9	9	9		9	9		9
E-LNG ICE	9	9	9		8		9	9	9	9		9	9		9
Bio-LNG FC •	9	9	9		8		9	9	9	9	4			7	
E-LNG FC	9	9	9		8		9	9	9	9	4			7	
E-ammonia ICE 🛛 🔍	7	2	2			7	7	7	3	7		3	2		2
NG-ammonia ICE •	7	2	2			7	7	7	3	7		3	2		2
E-ammonia FC •	7	2	2			7	7	7	3	7	2		2	7	2
NG-ammonia FC •	7	2	2			7	7	7	3	7	2		2	7	2
E-hydrogen ICE	4	2	3				3	6	2	2		2	5		2
NG-hydrogen ICE •	4	2	3				3	6	2	2		2	5		2
E-hydrogen FC	4	2	3				3	6	2	2			5	7	2
NG-hydrogen FC	4	2	3				3	6	2	2			5	7	2
Batteries •	4	2	3				3	6	2	2			5	7	

* E-fuel (electro fuels) - Fuels produced from renewable electricity & NG - Natural gas.

Figure 2.14 TRL ranking for Zero Emission Vessel technologies (LR and UMAS, 2020).

2.6.1. Hydrogen production methods

There are many methods for producing hydrogen, but not all of them are considered green (Van Hoecke et al., 2021). Some selected categories (color codes) according to the methods used to produce hydrogen are the following (Fig. 2.15):



Figure 2.15 Hydrogen production methods color codes.

"Green" hydrogen is produced by electrolyzing water with electricity from non-carbon-emitting sources (e.g. wind or solar) (Goncalves et al., 2021). "Blue" hydrogen is produced from hydrocarbons, usually by steam reformation and any carbon from the process is possibly captured with the Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) process (Goncalves et al., 2021). "Grev" hydrogen is produced as blue hydrogen without CCS, or green hydrogen with electricity from CO₂ emitting power stations without reducing GHG emissions (Goncalves et al., 2021). "Turquoise" hydrogen is a variant of blue hydrogen, but the hydrocarbon is separated into hydrogen gas and carbon black (solid carbon that can be used as a raw material) by pyrolysis without CO₂ that needs to be dealt with (Goncalves et al., 2021). The major hydrogen production methods are shown below.

✓ Reforming

Hydrogen (H₂) production arises from **Steam-Methane Reforming (SMR)**, in which the methane from a methane source such as natural gas reacts with steam with a catalyst to produce mostly hydrogen and CO (NCE MCT, 2019; Platzer and Sarigul-Klijn, 2021). Then in the "water-gas shift reaction" (WGSR): $CO+ H_2O \rightarrow CO_2 + H_2$ (1), the CO and steam are reacted using a catalyst to produce CO_2 and more hydrogen (Fig. 2.16) (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017; NCE MCT, 2019; Platzer and Sarigul-Klijn, 2021). CO_2 is separated by "pressure-swing adsorption" (PSA) to produce pure hydrogen (Platzer and Sarigul-Klijn, 2021). The same outcome results using oxygen instead of steam, as an oxidant (**partial oxidation**), or using a combination of steam and oxygen {**autothermal reforming (ATR)**} (NCE MCT, 2019). On the other hand, one technology that can be used for carbon capture is absorption with solvents, like amine technology or the cold capture system Cryocap (NCE MCT, 2019).



Figure 2.16 Reforming (NCE MCT, 2019).

✓ Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis is the process in which biomass or any carbonaceous feedstock is converted into gas, liquid, and solid fuels or chemical feedstock and it takes place in absence of oxygen (Parthasarathy and Narayanan, 2014). During hydrocarbon pyrolysis, hydrocarbon undergoes thermal decomposition through the general reaction: $C_nH_m \rightarrow nC + \frac{1}{2} mH_2$ (2), while the thermal decomposition from biomass pyrolysis, can be given by the following equation: biomass pyrolysis $\rightarrow H_2 + CO + CO_2 + HCgases + Tar + Char$ (3) (Parthasarathy and Narayanan, 2014; Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Methane and other hydrocarbon gases produced by biomass pyrolysis can be steam reformed (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Moreover, regarding the carbon produced by hydrocarbon pyrolysis, there is carbon management, which could be used in metallurgy, in chemical industries, can be stored underwater or on land for future uses (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).

✓ Gasification

In the gasification process, fuels (e.g. oil, coal, or biomass) are dried and heated in a gasification medium such as air, oxygen, and/or steam, and syngas is created (NCE MCT, 2019; Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). ✓ Biological processes

There are two basic biological processes for hydrogen production, which are the following:

- Bio-photolysis: is the process by which water molecules dissociate into hydrogen ion and oxygen with light energy by green algae (direct bio-photolysis) or blue-green algae namely cyanobacteria (indirect bio-photolysis) (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).
- Fermentations: are processes by which microbial transformations of organic feed materials are carried out, producing alcohols, acetone, hydrogen, CO₂ by anaerobic bacteria under anoxic, dark conditions (dark fermentation) or using light energy and organic acids in deficient nitrogen conditions (photo-fermentation) (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Dark and photo-fermentation can also be used sequentially (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).

✓ Electrolysis

Regarding electrolysis, water splitting is carried out by electricity to produce hydrogen and oxygen (O₂) (Fig. 2.17), and in the case that the source of electricity is renewable there are no CO₂ emissions (NCE MCT, 2019). The commonly used electrolysis technologies are alkaline, proton exchange membrane (PEM), and solid oxide electrolysis cells (SOEC) (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). There is also, *photo-electrolysis*, which is a similar process of water splitting with electrolysis but it is using sunlight (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).



Figure 2.17 Electrolysis (NCE MCT, 2019).

✓ Thermolysis

Regarding thermolysis, water is heated to a high temperature until decomposed to hydrogen and oxygen (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).

2.6.2. Hydrogen storage, transportation, utilization, and bunkering

• Storage

Hydrogen can be stored as a gas or liquid and on the surfaces by adsorption or within the solids by absorption (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Hydrogen can be **solid** at -262° C with a density of 70.6 kg·m⁻³, gas at ambient temperature (298.15 K) or at 0°C and a pressure of 1 bar with a density of 0.089886 kg·m⁻³, and liquid at -253°C with a density of 70.8 kg·m⁻³ (Züttel, 2004). However, it is worth noting that 1 kg of hydrogen gas occupies a volume of 11 m³ at ambient temperature (298.15 K) and atmospheric pressure (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Due to the enormous hydrogen gas volume, a storage system aims to reduce the volume of the hydrogen gas and consequently increase the hydrogen density (Züttel, 2004). In order to be achieved the above, pressure should be increased (compressed hydrogen) or the temperature should be decreased below the critical temperature (see Chart 2.1), or the repulsion interaction between hydrogen molecules should be reduced by the interaction of hydrogen with another material (Züttel, 2004). Furthermore, the reversibility of the hydrogen uptake and release should be considered (Züttel, 2004). The liquid storage methods have the ability to store the most hydrogen (El-Gohary, 2013). The main hydrogen storage methods are shown below and their basic characteristics are listed in Table 2.9.

[39]



Chart 2.1 Phase diagram for hydrogen - Critical point at 33 K (Züttel, 2004).

Storage method	ρ_m (wt%)	${}^{ m ho_v}_{ m (kg/m^3)}$	T (°C)	P (MPa)
High pressure gaseous H ₂	13	40	ambient	77
Cryogenic liquid		70.8	- 252.87	atmospheric
Adsorbed on carbon nanotubes	10.8	41	- 196.15	6
Absorbed to form hydrides	3	150	ambient	atmospheric
Absorbed to form complex	18	150	> 100	atmospheric

Table 2.9 The basic characteristics of hydrogen storage methods (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas,

2017).

High-pressure gas cylinders

Hydrogen using standard piston-type mechanical compressors can be compressed and stored in cylinders with pressure up to 80 MPa, volumetric density of 36 kg/m³ and low gravimetric density because it decreases with the high pressure due to the increasing thickness of the walls of the pressure cylinder (Züttel, 2004). The work consumption for compression is much higher than 2.21 kWh/kg because, in a real process, the compression is not isothermal (Züttel, 2004).

Cryogenic liquid

LH₂ can be stored at 21.2 K and at ambient pressure in cryogenic tanks via a double-step procedure of compression and cooling in a heat exchanger (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017; Züttel, 2004). More specifically, the gas is compressed, and then cooled in a heat exchanger, subsequently, it passes through a throttle valve where it undergoes an isenthalpic Joule–Thomson expansion, and produces liquid (Linde cycle) (Züttel, 2004). The work consumption is 15.2 kWh/kg due to its low boiling point of -252.87 °C, the volumetric density at atmospheric pressure is 70.8 kg/m³ and the gravimetric density depends on the tank size (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017).

Solid-state storage with adsorption

The adsorption of a gas on a surface occurs due to the field force of the solid surface (adsorbent) that attracts the molecules of the gas or vapour (adsorbate) (Züttel, 2004). In this process, hydrogen (gas molecule) interacts with several atoms at carbon nanotubes (solid surface) where it is bonded and reversibly released when needed (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Generally, solid-state storage of hydrogen is more effective at moderate temperature and pressure (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017). Also, zeolite is another solid surface that enables the adsorption of gases and can be used for hydrogen storage (Nazir et al., 2020).

[41]

Solid-state storage with absorption to form hydrides

Hydrides can be formed when hydrogen reacts with transitions metals and their alloys, as some metals and alloys absorb hydrogen and form hydrides (Nikolaidis and Poullikkas, 2017; Zhou, 2005). There are the metallic hydrides and the complex hydrides of which the complex hydrides are formed by the transition of metals to ionic or covalent compounds upon hydrogen absorption (Zhou, 2005).

Chemical carriers

Chemical storage is using substances such as hydrogen carriers, such as ammonia (NH₃), hydrides, liquid organic hydrogen carriers (LOHC), carbohydrates, synthetic hydrocarbons (Sundén, 2019).

• Transportation

Hydrogen transportation can be carried in gas, liquid, or metal hydrides form via road transport (using trucks hauling tube-trailers, tanker trucks, container trucks, railcar containers), pipelines for transporting and distributing GH_2 , or ocean transport (using LH_2 tanker vessel or intercontinental transport of LH_2 can be performed using ships similar to the ones used for natural gas) (Nazir et al., 2020).

[42]

• Utilization

Hydrogen can be used in internal combustion engines (ICEs), FCs, turbines, cookers and gas boilers (Momirlan and Veziroglu, 2005). In the marine field, *hydrogen fuel is used in ICEs, gas turbines*, and *FCs* (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018). More specifically, hydrogen can be used as a marine fuel in **ICEs** in order to be used the existing diesel engines without manufacturing new systems but with only the appropriate modifications (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018).

Hydrogen gas can be used in the **turbine** and the design is based on the ordinary gas turbines that are designed based on the Brayton cycle (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018; El-Gohary, 2013). It is a good alternative for ordinary marine power plants as no special technologies are needed and it has good performance (El-Gohary, 2013). Finally, in general, the **FC** converts the chemical energy in the fuel (the basic fuel for FCs is hydrogen gas but it can be also compounds including hydrogen like hydrocarbons or alcohols) to electric energy reacting with the atmospheric oxygen, producing electricity, water and heat (El-Gohary, 2013).

In general, when hydrogen is burned in a combustion chamber with air, the result is water vapor and traces of nitric oxides, as nitrogen is contented in the air, but when the hydrogen consumed by either combustion or a FC has as a product only water (El Gohary and Seddiek, 2013).

One of the main problems of hydrogen in ICEs, like with natural gas, is the engine knocking, which is caused mainly due to the air fuel ratio and the intake temperature (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018). Hydrogen is also one of the most flammable and explosive fuels (Das, 2016). Hydrogen produces fewer emissions almost in all engine operating conditions, however, due to the higher combustion temperature in hydrogen engines, NO_x rates have been found high in some cases and many solutions have been produced, like exhaust gas recirculation and catalytic reduction filters (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018).

Regarding the hydrogen gas turbine, it has to be taken into account the adoption of the new type of fuel for waterborne vehicles and the difference between the properties of hydrogen and those of other types of fuels like the combustion characteristics (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018; El-Gohary, 2013). One solution could be the mixture of hydrogen with other types of fuels like natural gas (El-Gohary, 2013).

The advantage of FCs is their modularity and that they reduce CO₂ emission for a given power output and the transmission losses, resulting in higher efficiency (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018). FCs have high initial costs, however, costs are expected to decline as manufacturing capacity and capability increase and designs and integration improve (Ammar and Alshammari, 2018). FCs in the marine field provide the power for propulsion in small units or auxiliary power for large units, however, are not new to the marine sector as they are used for submarines for years (EI-Gohary, 2013). There are five dominant types of FCs, which are: Proton Exchange Membrane Fuel Cell (PEMFC), Alkaline Fuel Cell (AFC), Phosphoric Acid Fuel Cell (PAFC), Molten Carbonate Fuel Cell (MCFC) and Solid Oxide Fuel Cell (SOFC) (Table 2.10) (EI-Gohary, 2013).

[44]

Fuel cell type	Electrolyte	Temperature range /°C	Output /kW	Efficiency /%	Applications
PEMFC	Solid organic polymer	50-100	<1-250	25-58	Backup power Small distributed generation Transportation
AFC	Aqueous solution of potassium hydroxide	90-100	10-100	60	Military Space
PAFC	Liquid phosphoric acid	150-200	50-1000	>40	Distributed generation
MCFC	Liquid solution of lithium, sodium and/or potassium carbonates	600-700	<1-1000	45-47	Large distributed generation
SOFC	Yttria stabilized zirconia	600-1000	<1-3000	35-43	Auxiliary power Large distributed generation

Table 2.10 The main characteristics of the different types of FCs (El-Gohary, 2013).

o Bunkering

In general, the bunkering method will be dependent on the method of fuel storage (GH₂ or LH₂) (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021). More specifically, GH₂ will be transferred to ship by direct compression or via a pressure differential, LH₂ using cryogenic pumps drawing analogies with LNG or in general bunkering could also occur via the direct exchange of container racks (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021).

2.6.3. Hydrogen safety

Hydrogen is no more or less dangerous than other flammable fuels such as gasoline and natural gas (El Gohary and Seddiek, 2013). An explosion cannot occur in a tank or any contained location with only hydrogen and an oxidizer, such as oxygen must be in a concentration of at least 10% pure oxygen or 41% air (El Gohary and Seddiek, 2013). Hydrogen can be explosive at concentrations of 18.3-59%, while gasoline can be explosive at concentrations of 13.3% (much lower) (El Gohary and Seddiek, 2013).

It is important the crew of a hydrogen fuelled ship to be trained on how to maintain a hydrogen system on board a ship and how to handle fire safety (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021). It should also be considered the safety around the storage of a high-pressure flammable gas on vessels, as high-pressure tanks carry the risk of explosion (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021).

Hydrogen has some safety-related properties such as its low density, low ignition energy, wide flammability range, and potential explosiveness (DNV, 2021). Hydrogen is highly buoyant and can be an advantage or a challenge (DNV, 2021). Due to its low density, outdoor hydrogen gas disperses rapidly (DNV, 2021). Buoyancy has a positive effect on lifting gas in the passive zone of hydrogen gas clouds (DNV, 2021). However, for high momentum jets with a release rate above a certain size, the gas is driven by its momentum rather than buoyancy as long as the gas velocity in the plume exceeds the ambient air velocity (DNV, 2021). At this stage, a large gas cloud can be created, similar to a natural gas leak (DNV, 2021).

[46]

A stoichiometric mixture is where there is exactly the amount of fuel to fully use up all the oxygen without leaving excess fuel, so that the maximum combustion energy can be released (DNV, 2021). A stoichiometric mixture of hydrogen in the air contains 29.5 volume percent (vol%) hydrogen, whereas natural gas has around 10 vol%, so, it is necessary to have a larger leak rate to get this richer hydrogen concentration, but for hydrogen, it comes naturally as an equal hole size gives about three times the volumetric flow of natural gas (DNV, 2021). Furthermore, due to the wide flammability range of hydrogen, it can create a much larger flammable cloud with less gas compared to methane (DNV, 2021). It is very important when selecting materials that will be in contact with hydrogen, to be compatible with it, so that the probability of ignition is lessened as well as the leaks and embrittlement of hydrogen (DNV, 2021).

2.6.4. Hydrogen fuel cost

Costs of the use of alternative fuel systems on board include Capital expenditures (CapEx) and operational expenditures (OpEx) (Deniz and Zincir, 2016). CapEx refers to the investment expenses of the alternative fuel systems, which include system components, engine retrofits, and engine room changes (Deniz and Zincir, 2016). The cost of engine conversion is determined by the type and dimensions of the ship (Deniz and Zincir, 2016). The operational costs include maintenance costs, consumable costs and fuel price (Deniz and Zincir, 2016).

The major cost of converting a vessel to a hydrogen-powered vessel is storage and availability (ABS, 2021). The cost and availability of hydrogen is now greater than those of natural gas, making it less appealing to the maritime sector (ABS, 2021). Vessels can use grey or brown hydrogen while it is available and then switch to blue or green hydrogen when those production paths become more ubiquitous and cost-effective (ABS, 2021). A reduction in production costs and an increase in availability of hydrogen has the potential to make hydrogen the preferred fuel alternative for maritime vessels (ABS, 2021). As more countries produce hydrogen from renewable sources, the cost of marine hydrogen will fall (ABS, 2021). Currently, hydrogen fuel is predicted to cost four to eight times the price of very low-sulfur fuel oil (VLSFO) (ABS, 2021). Because green hydrogen is reliant on the renewable energy business, as renewable energy gets more affordable, the green hydrogen industry is expected to follow suit (ABS, 2021).

[48]

Green or blue hydrogen has the ability to completely decarbonize shipping and meet the IMO's decarbonization targets by 2050 (ABS, 2021). However, electrolysis generating based on a growing renewable electrical grid is predicted to lower the prices of such carbon-free production methods (ABS, 2021). While the cost of fuel is projected to be roughly half of the total transition cost, the cost of storage and new fuel consumers should be considered when transitioning to hydrogen fuel (ABS, 2021). The owner may also need to consider the needed range of the fuel and related volume, which may affect the amount of cargo space offered in the vessel design for fuel storage (ABS, 2021).

An overview of hydrogen fuel cost is shown in Table 2.11 below.



Table 2.11 Hydrogen fuel cost overview (IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project et al., 2021)

3. Portfolio of hydrogen use as a marine fuel

Class U212A & U214 submarines



Figure 3.1 Class 212A submarine (Thyssenkrupp, n.d.).



Figure 3.2 Class 214 submarine (Thyssenkrupp, n.d.).

German types U212A (Fig. 3.1) and U214 (Fig. 3.2) submarines have a hybrid propulsion system with a hydrogen FC and a diesel engine (deliveries from 2003 onwards) (Tronstad et al., 2017; Weaver and Barrett, 2003). They have Air Independent Propulsion (AIP) with 9x 34 kW PEMFC (for the U212A submarine) and 2x 120 kW PEMFC (for the U214 submarine), metal hydride hydrogen storage and liquid oxygen storage (Jong and Corrignan, 2009). The type of these projects is commercial (Vogler and Sattler, 2016). The U212A submarine can accommodate a crew of 27 (McConnell, 2010).

Hydra



Figure 3.3 Hydra water taxi (Sturm, 2016).

Around 2000 appeared in Germany the world's first civilian, electric hydrogen FC boat called Hydra (Fig. 3.3), which is a water taxi for 22 passengers and certified by Germanischer Lloyd (Sturm, 2016; Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Hydra's propulsion system is powered by an electric motor, which gets electricity from a 5 kW AFC system (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). Hydrogen was generated via cleaving water by electricity (Power to Gas technology) and stored on board in a metal hydride energy storage device (Sturm, 2016). This project is a prototype project (Vogler and Sattler, 2016).



Hydrogenesis

Figure 3.4 Hydrogenesis ferry (Bristol Hydrogen Boats, n.d.).

Hydrogenesis (Fig. 3.4) is a prototype project (in 2012) and the UK's first hydrogen-powered ferry with two permanent magnet DC motors powered by a 12 kW PEMFC system (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2013). This ferry is for 12 passengers and 2 crews (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Hydrogenesis belongs to the Green Capital project that was initiated in 2010 by Bristol City Council, which provided initial funding of US\$ 343000 as part of its Bristol Green Capital initiatives (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2013; Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Hydrogen on board is stored in a tank at up to 350 bar (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2013).



Ross Barlow

Figure 3.5 Ross Barlow canal boat (Book, 2013).

Ross Barlow (Fig. 3.5) is a hydrogen-powered canal boat with TiMn₂based metal hydride store (solid-state hydrogen store), 1 kW PEMFC, lead-acid battery pack and high efficiency, permanent magnet (NdFeB) electric motor (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Bevan et al., 2011). This canal boat is a prototype project, belongs to the Protium project and was converted from British Waterways maintenance craft and used on the UK canal network (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). High power demand is provided by batteries (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Ross Barlow canal boat launched in 2007 and 2010 embarked on a journey across England from Birmingham to Chester (University of Birmingham, 2007; Bevan et al., 2011).

FCS Alsterwasser



Figure 3.6 FCS Alsterwasser inland passenger vessel (Dirk, 2013).

FCS Alsterwasser (Fig. 3.6) was created via the Zemships project and it is the world's first inland passenger vessel (for 100 passengers) with a hydrogen FC (2x 48 kW PEMFC) propulsion system on board in line operation and operated by the ATG (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Dirk, 2013; Chakraborty et al., 2013). It is worth mentioning that the FCS Alsterwasser vessel had a fire accident in 2010 (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Through the Zemships project, the necessary hydrogen infrastructure was also developed (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). The storage of hydrogen on board is gaseous (GH₂) at 350 bar/15°C, and buffer battery is also included in the propulsion system, which consists of a propulsion motor of 100 kW and a bow thruster of 20 kW (Dirk, 2013; Chakraborty et al., 2013). This vessel is a commercial project from Germany (Vogler and Sattler, 2016). The Zemships project started in 2006 and the construction phase of the ship took place in 2008, and the same year, the first commercially used FC passenger ship was put into service (Dirk, 2013; EC-LIFE, 2021). The total budget of the project was 5,158,348 € with an EU contribution of 2,384,424 € (EC-LIFE, 2021).

[53]

Duffy-Herreshoff DH30



Figure 3.7 Duffy-Herreshoff DH30 water taxi (Hydrogen House Project, n.d.).

This water taxi (Fig. 3.7) is a prototype project (in 2003) and powered by FC (4x 1.5 kW PEMFC) /battery electric hybrid engine and it is the world's first FC powered public water taxi with hydrogen fuel and zero emissions on the San Francisco Bay (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Millennium Cell, 2003). The boat is funded by California's Center for the Commercial Deployment of Transportation Technologies (CCDoTT) (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). This water taxi is for 18 passengers and is fitted with the Millennium Cell Hydrogen on Demand[™] hydrogen storage, which generates hydrogen from Sodium Borohydride (NaBH₄) (Millennium Cell, 2003).

Xperiance NX Hydrogen



Figure 3.8 Xperiance NX Hydrogen leisure boat (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016).

The Xperiance NX hydrogen (Fig. 3.8) is a hydrogen leisure boat for 12 passengers, power-assisted by an electric motor, which gets its electricity from a 1.2 kW PEMFC and it is a prototype project of 2006 from the Netherlands (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). Its propulsion system has also a battery and its hydrogen storage system has 4 exchangeable 200 bar tanks (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). The Xperiance NX Hydrogen boat participated in the race for solar boats called Frisian Nuon Solar Challenge (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2006).

Tuckerboot (H₂Yacht)

The Tuckerboot (H₂Yacht) from Germany is an 8-passenger ship powerassisted by an electric motor that gets its electricity from a FC and its design is based on the AMS Tuckerboot 675 (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). This sport boat has 2x 1.2 kW PEMFC, battery and the hydrogen is stored on board in metal hydride containers (Nonstop, 2008; Zerta et al., 2019). It is a prototype project of 2005 (Zerta et al., 2019).



Nemo H₂

Figure 3.9 Nemo H_2 canal boat (Tronstad et al., 2017).

The Nemo H₂ canal boat (Fig. 3.9) in the Netherlands (in 2009) is a prototype project which is owned by Boat Company Lovers and it is the first boat powered by FC (2x 30 kW PEMFC) for 86 passengers and 2 crew (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). It has also 70 kWh battery, electrically powered stern and bow thruster, and hydrogen is stored in 6 cylinders at 350 bar (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). The total project cost was 3 million \in (approximately 1.8 million \in for the boat and 1.2 million \notin for the station) (Chakraborty et al., 2013).



Gold Green Hygen

Figure 3.10 Gold Green Hygen tourist boat (Choi et al., 2016).

The Gold Green Hygen is a tourist boat (Fig. 3.10) and the first FC powered boat in Korea which is operated in the coastal waters of Busan and which is powered by a 50 kW PEMFC system (25 kW per module) and 47 kW Li-ion batteries hybrid system (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016; Choi et al., 2016). The propulsion of the boat is provided by a waterjet and the hydrogen is stored in cylinders at 35 Mpa. (Korkmaz and Cerit, 2016). Its passenger capacity consists of 50 people (Campillo et al., 2019).

HYBRIDship project



Figure 3.11 HYBRIDship project (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017).

Fiskerstrand, a Norwegian shipbuilder awarded R&D funding to develop and design a hydrogen FC-powered hybrid ferry, through the PILOT-E scheme (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017). This project, as one of the PILOT-E projects, is sharing US\$ 8.3 million in funding support (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017). The project is called the HYBRIDship project (Fig. 3.11) and it was started in 2016 by Fiskerstrand Holding AS aiming to convert an existing diesel-powered ferry to hydrogen with FCs and batteries (Ventura et al., 2020). It is a pilot project and was scheduled to enter service by 2020 (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017; Zerta et al., 2019). The first phase of the HYBRIDship project started in January 2017, identifying the technical and regulatory requirements, testing the FCs under maritime conditions, the operation with hydrogen, and finding a suitable vessel for the pilot project and the second phase focused on rebuilding the chosen ferry, then testing, piloting and operating it (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017). The most acceptable methods to produce hydrogen for this project are water electrolysis or using membrane technology to extract hydrogen from syngas (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017).

FreeCO2ast project



Figure 3.12 FreeCO2ast project (Havyard, 2019).

The FreeCO2ast project (Fig. 3.12) by Havyard Group that has awarded funding under the PILOT-E scheme (US\$ 12.3 million) concerns the development of a zero-emissions ROPAX (roll-on/roll-off freight and passenger) vessel (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b). The vessel will be powered by a combination of batteries and hydrogen FCs with liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage method and 3200 kW FC power (Baumann et al., 2021; Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b). The storage location will be on weather deck (Baumann et al., 2021). It will be in operation by the end of 2022 in Norway (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b). According to Kristian Steinsvik (R&D Manager at Havyard Group), the project will develop a hydrogen energy system using it onboard to one of Havila Kystruten's coastal route vessels (for retrofitting) (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b; Havyard, 2019). It is a demonstration in normal operations type of project with large ship size (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

[58]

FLAGSHIPS project



Figure 3.13 Inland cargo vessel (Zulu) in France (FLAGSHIPS, 2021).



Figure 3.14 Passenger and car ferry (Hidle) in Norway (Enova, 2021).



Figure 3.15 FPS Waal container transport vessel (FLAGSHIPS, n.d.b).

The FLAGSHIPS project concerns the construction of two commercially operated zero-emission (a total of 1 MW) hydrogen FC vessels in France (pushboat) and Norway (passenger and car ferry) (FLAGSHIPS, 2020). Hydrogen will be produced from renewable energy on-site with electrolyzers and GH₂ will be stored on board (FLAGSHIPS, 2020). Regarding the project's initial plan of a push-boat in Lyon (in France), it changed to an inland cargo vessel (Zulu) (Fig. 3.13) along the River Seine due to the potential for hydrogen in cargo transport (FLAGSHIPS, 2021; Baumann et al., 2021). Both vessels were planned to run

on hydrogen during 2021 and it is expected to be maintained in normal commercial operation after the 18-month demonstration period (FLAGSHIPS, 2020). The funding in 2018 from the EU's Research and Innovation programme Horizon 2020, under the Fuel Cells and Hydrogen Joint Undertaking (FCH JU), for the FLAGSHIPS project was 5 million € (FLAGSHIPS, 2021). The total budget of the FLAGSHIPS project is 7 million € (FLAGSHIPS, n.d.a).

The passenger and car ferry (Hidle) (Fig. 3.14) in Norway (retrofitted vessel) will be operated by Norled and it will have 3x 200 kW PEMFC, battery capacity of 0-500 kWh (need for batteries is under consideration), biodiesel generator back-up power, 199 passengers with the crew, 60 cars or 6 trucks (FLAGSHIPS, 2019; Baumann et al., 2021). Hidle ferry will use compressed GH₂ storage at 250 bar and the bunkering will take place every night from shore to ship (daily operation of 19 hours) (Baumann et al., 2021). Zulu vessel will use GH₂ storage at 300 bar, FC power of 400 kW and the bunkering will take place once a week (daily operation of 8-10 hours) (Baumann et al., 2021).

It was announced through the Norled AS official LinkedIn page that the passenger and car ferry Hidle welcomed its first passengers on board at Finnøysambandet in December 2021. In addition, in December 2021 the FLAGSHIPS H2020 Project announced through its official LinkedIn page that the hydrogen cargo vessel Zulu began sea trials on the Danube River and is expected to be traversing the River Seine in Paris with a complete hydrogen system installed by the summer of 2022.

Recently was also scheduled via the FLAGSHIPS project to be retrofitted and in operation, by summer 2023 the FPS Waal container cargo vessel (Fig.

[60]

3.15), owned and operated by Future Proof Shipping in the Netherlands that will sail on the river Rhine between Rotterdam (NL) and Duisburg (DE) (FLAGSHIPS, n.d.b). This vessel with the former name Fenny 1 was built in 1993 and after the retrofitting its propulsion system will include FCs (PEMFC), battery packs, an electric motor and hydrogen storage (FLAGSHIPS, n.d.b).



Aero 42 H₂

Figure 3.16 Aero 42 H₂ fast ferry (Strømgren et al., 2017).

The Brødrene Aa shipyard in Western Norway has developed the Aero 42 H₂ vessel type (Fig. 3.16) which is a battery (672 kWh) and hydrogen FC (2800 kW) powered fast ferry (high-speed craft-HSC) (Torvanger, 2021; (Munkvold, 2020). This vessel is equipped for 277 passengers (Strømgren et al., 2017). Storage tanks are for pressurized hydrogen at 250 bar (Munkvold, 2020). The Aero 42 H₂ has a price of MNOK 169 and will be able to be delivered by 2023 (Strømgren et al., 2017).
ULSTEIN SX190 Zero Emission DP2



Figure 3.17 ULSTEIN SX190 Zero Emission DP2 vessel (ULSTEIN, 2021).

The ULSTEIN SX190 Zero Emission DP2 vessel (from the Netherlands) (Fig. 3.17) is Ulstein's first hydrogen-powered offshore construction vessel with a Nedstack 2 MW FC (PEMFC) power system (ULSTEIN, 2021). The FCs are fuelled by hydrogen that is stored in containerized pressure vessels on deck at 500 bar that can be loaded and unloaded by container handling operations and equipment, eliminating the need for bunkering infrastructure (ULSTEIN, 2021; Baumann et al., 2021). The design of the ship is based on its existing SX190 vessel platform with a total installed power of 7.5 MW, 2x 1280 kW propulsion thrusters and 2x 750 kW tunnel thrusters (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019a). For extended missions, the vessel can use its conventional <u>diesel-electric system</u> using low-sulfur marine diesel oil (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019a). Sea trials of a new build ship could begin in 2022 (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019a). it is a demonstration in normal operations type of project and the ship size is small (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

HySHIP project



Figure 3.18 HySHIP project (Wilhelmsen, 2020a).

The HySHIP project (Fig. 3.18) includes the design and construction of a new liquid green hydrogen (LH₂) powered ro-ro demonstration vessel, and the establishment of a LH₂ supply chain and bunkering platform (Wilhelmsen, 2020a). The vessel will be a "two-in-one" solution namely that it will be carrying both coastwise customer cargo and containerized LH₂ to the bunkering hubs (Wilhelmsen, 2020a). Norwegian maritime industry group Wilhelmsen will operate the ship along the Norwegian coast and it is expected to be operational from 2024 (Wilhelmsen, 2020a). The vessel will be going under the concept name Topeka and it will have a 1 MWh battery capacity and 3 MW hydrogen FC (PEMFC) (Wilhelmsen, 2020a). The project is granted 8 million € in European funding and its total budget is about 10 796 560 € (Wilhelmsen, 2020a; CORDIS | EC, 2020). The type of the project is "demonstration in normal operations" (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). Finally, the vessel's vehicles capacity is 56 semi-trailers or 180 cars and the hydrogen is stored in storage tanks (65-100 m³) (Baumann et al., 2021). Wilhelmsen's Topeka hydrogen project focuses on the building of two ro-ro vessels and was awarded NOK 219 million (MUSD 25) by the Norwegian government-owned organization Enova (Wilhelmsen, 2020b).

[63]

Hydrogen Hybrid Harbour Tug project (Green Tug)



Figure 3.19 Hydrogen Hybrid Harbour Tug project (HHHT) (Green Tug) (Jong and Corrignan, 2009).

The Dutch Green Design project called Hydrogen Hybrid Harbour Tug (HHHT) (Fig. 3.19) applies a hybrid propulsion system involving both diesel generators and hydrogen-fuelled FCs (Jong and Corrignan, 2009). It has 2x 100 kW PEMFC with hydrogen stored at 430 bar (Díaz-de-Baldasano et al., 2014). It will run on FCs for standby and mobilization power levels and diesel engines for the pulling/pushing operations in the Netherlands (El-Gohary, 2013).

H2SHIPS project



Figure 3.20 MS Havenbeheer vessel (Lensing, 2020).



Figure 3.21 The new vessel Neo Orbis (Port of Amsterdam, 2021).

The project H2SHIPS (2019-2022) includes two pilot projects and an action plan (Interreg North-West Europe H2SHIPS, 2021). More specifically, the project includes a new hydrogen-powered port vessel in Amsterdam, a H₂ refueling system suitable for open sea operation in Belgium and an action plan for the implementation of a H2SHIPS pilot on the river Seine in Paris in 2022 (Interreg North-West Europe H2SHIPS, 2021). The new built vessel in Amsterdam will be a slightly enlarged version of the current vessel of the Port of Amsterdam, the MS Havenbeheer (Fig. 3.20) (Lensing, 2020). The new vessel will operate with FC and battery, NaBH₄ will be used as a hydrogen carrier for hydrogen storage and its passenger capacity is 25 (Baumann et al., 2021). The type of the project is "demonstration in normal operations" (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The project has a total budget of 6.33 million \in (Interreg North-West Europe H2SHIPS, 2021). The new vessel will be called the Neo Orbis (Fig. 3.21) (meaning the New World from the Greek "Neo" and the Latin "Orbis") (Port of Amsterdam, 2021).

Hydroville project



Figure 3.22 Hydroville catamaran (Saverys, 2020).

Hydroville (Fig. 3.22) is a crewboat catamaran with gas-fuelled engines (hydrogen gas) (De Witte, 2018). Hydroville's propulsion system consists of two dual-fuelled (hydrogen and diesel) ICEs with a total shaft power of 441 kW and service pressure in hydrogen tanks-cylinders is 200 bar (De Witte, 2018). It launched in November 2017 and was the first certified passenger shuttle with hydrogen in diesel engine (Saverys, 2020). Belgium is the route area of the project (Baumann et al., 2021).



Hydrotug

Figure 3.23 Hydrotug (Saverys, 2020).

Hydrotug (Fig. 3.23) is a 65 ton bollard pull-tractor tug with two dual-fuel (hydrogen and diesel) engines (2x V12-2000 kW) (BEHYDRO dual-fuel engine) for the port of Antwerp (Belgium) (BeHydro, n.d.; Saverys, 2020). Hydrotug will

be the first tug in the world powered with hydrogen-diesel ICEs (Baumann et al., 2021; Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). It is a "demonstration in normal operations" type of project and the size of the ship is small (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). Finally, the hydrogen storage pressure is at 250 bar (Baumann et al., 2021).

HydroCat



Figure 3.24 HydroCat (Saverys, 2020).

HydroCat (Fig. 3.24) (from Belgium) based on Hydroville technology, is developed in a joint venture with Windcat Workboats and CMB to be operated at an offshore wind park in the North Sea and its design is based on the WindCat MK3.5 (Campe, 2019; Saverys, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). It has a dual-fuel engine power of 1498 kW (dual fuel hydrogen–diesel ICEs) (Campe, 2019; Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021; Baumann et al., 2021). It is a Crew Transfer Vessel (CTV) with 24 passengers (Saverys, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). The vessel stores pressurized hydrogen at 350 bar (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). It is a "demonstration in normal operations" type of project with £100k support from the Carbon Trust in the framework of the Low Emissions Vessels competition (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

HydroBingo



Figure 3.25 HydroBingo (Saverys, 2020).

HydroBingo (in Japan, in 2021) (Fig. 3.25) is a shuttle for 80 passengers and is powered with 2x 400kW hydrogen-diesel ICEs (Saverys, 2020). The hydrogen is stored inside a mobile trailer (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021) The type of the project is "demonstration in normal operations" (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

MF Vågen



Figure 3.26 MF Vågen (Svendsen and Opdahl, 2017).

The MF Vågen (Fig. 3.26) is a small passenger ship (commuter ferry) in Norway (in 2010) that has a 12,5 kW HT-PEMFC system (type of PEMFC that can operate at temperatures up to 200°C) and it is a prototype project (Zerta et al., 2019; Tronstad et al., 2017). It uses metal hydride as the source of hydrogen (Tronstad et al., 2017).

Elektra



Figure 3.27 Elektra push boat (E4ships, n.d.).

Elektra (Fig. 3.27) (in Germany) is the world's first zero-emissions push boat and its propulsion power will be powered by 3x 100 kW FC modules (PEMFC) and 2.5 kWh of modular batteries (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019c). Hydrogen is stored at 500 bar (compressed gaseous) and compressed hydrogen storage is located on racks on weather deck (Baumann et al., 2021). The type of the project is commercial and it will be completed in 2024 (Zerta et al., 2019; Baumann et al., 2021). Elektra has also photovoltaic modules and total funding of 1.173.348,88 € (E4ships, n.d.; NOW GmbH, n.d.).

Hornblower Hybrid



Figure 3.28 Hornblower Hybrid (Hydrogenics, 2013).

Hornblower Hybrid ferry (Fig. 3.28) in the USA (in 2012) is a prototype project with PEMFC power of 32 kW (Zerta et al., 2019). The 600-passengers NYC hybrid ferry has also, diesel generator, batteries, solar panels and wind turbines (Tronstad et al., 2017; Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2011).

SF-BREEZE



Figure 3.29 SF-BREEZE ferry (Tronstad et al., 2017).

The SF-BREEZE project is a Feasibility Study of a passenger ferry (Fig. 3.29) (high-speed) with LH₂ and a hydrogen refueling station in the San Francisco bay area (started in 2015) (Tronstad et al., 2017). The ferry has a passenger capacity of 150 people and two electro motors (Tronstad et al., 2017). The FCs (41 PEMFC units of 120 kW each) and the fuel storage system are above deck (Tronstad et al., 2017). The SF-BREEZE project led to the **Zero-V Research Vessel** (Klebanoff, 2019). The "Golden Gate Zero Emission Marine" co-founder and CEO/CTO Dr. Joe Pratt led the landmark SF-BREEZE study (GGZEM, n.d.).

SEA CHANGE (ex. WATER-GO-ROUND)



Figure 3.30 SEA CHANGE (Water-Go-Round, n.d.).

Golden Gate Zero Emission Marine Sea Change (Fig. 3.30) in the USA is a hydrogen and battery powered passenger ferry with 3x 120 kW PEMFC power and 100 kWh battery capacity (Zerta et al., 2019; Baumann et al., 2021). The compressed GH_2 is stored at 250 bar (Baumann et al., 2021). It has 84 passenger capacity and electric motor power of 2x 300 kW (Baumann et al., 2021). The project is expected to launch in 2021 (Baumann et al., 2021). It is a demonstration project (Zerta et al., 2019).



Kamine boat

Figure 3.31 Kamine test boat (Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018).

Kamine boat is a test boat (Fig. 3.31) under the project, which has been started in 2015, on developing safety guidelines for hydrogen FC-powered boats (below gt of 20 tonnes) in Japan's coastal waters (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2018; Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018). That boat has 60 kWh lithium-ion battery, 2x 30 kW polymer electrolyte fuel cell (PEFC) (also known as PEMFC) and 50 kW IPM motors x 2 units (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2018; Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018). Yanmar and Toyota Tsusho researched the 60 kW FC system for boats (Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018). A demonstration trial was conducted during the last year of the plan (three-year plan) (Toyota Tsusho Corporation, 2018).

Cobalt 233 Zet



Figure 3.32 Cobalt 233 Zet boat (Nonstop, 2008).

Zebotec Cobalt 233 Zet (Fig. 3.32) (in 2007) in Germany (sport boat) is a prototype project with a hybrid propulsion system using batteries for peak power (Zerta et al., 2019; Tronstad et al., 2017). The hybrid propulsion system is composed of electrical engine, batteries and a PEMFC system (Zerta et al., 2019; Nonstop, 2008).

Race for Water



Figure 3.33 Race for Water catamaran (Race for Water Foundation, 2018).

The Race for Water expedition (Swiss project) started in France in 2015 to assess the plastic pollution of the oceans (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). In 2017, the Race for Water expedition started on a new five-year (2017-2021) Odyssey around the world to propose solutions for the preservation of the oceans (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). The vessel (Swiss origin) (Fig. 3.33) that is used for the 5 years Odyssey is an environmentally-friendly vessel

and is powered with clean energies (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). It is the first vessel powered by a solar-hydrogen-kite energy mix (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). It has space for 11 passengers, compressed hydrogen is stored at 350 bar, FC power of 2x 30 kW, electric and wind propulsion and a photovoltaic system (Baumann et al., 2021). The first name of this catamaran vessel was "MS Tûranor PlanetSolar" and it was renamed "Race for Water" in 2015 from the name of the Foundation that now operates it (Fondation PlanetSolar, n.d.).

Generally, seawater is pumped, desalinated, stored on board and using the surplus photovoltaic energy is purified, then being electrolyzed at 50 bars hydrogen is produced, which is then dried, compressed at 350 bars, and stored in cylinders (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). The FCs maintain the charge level of the batteries or supply the electric engine (propellers) directly (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). Energy is also stored via solar panels in lithium-ion batteries (Race for Water Foundation, 2018). The project is currently in service (Baumann et al., 2021). The towing kite enables greater range while increasing the boat speed in certain conditions (Race for Water Foundation, 2018).

MF HYDRA (Norled)



Figure 3.34 MF HYDRA ferry (Westcon Yards AS, n.d.).

The MF HYDRA car ferry (Fig. 3.34) (in Norway, 2021 project completion) was delivered in June 2021 by Westcon Yards AS, to ship-owner Norled AS in Stavanger and it is a battery, hydrogen, diesel hybrid plug-in car and passenger ferry (Baumann et al., 2021; Westcon Yards AS, n.d.). It has 1.36 MWh battery, 400 kW FC power, liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage, 299-passenger capacity and can carry 80 cars/10 trucks (Baumann et al., 2021).

GKP7H2 project

Figure 3.35 GKP7H2 project (Reinertsen New Energy, 2018).

The GKP7H2 (Fig. 3.35) is a project for a hydrogen and FC-driven highspeed passenger ferry (Aarskog et al., 2020). The ship has a capacity of 100 passengers, a hydrogen storage capacity of 450 kg at 250 bar and an installed propulsion power of 1.2 MW (Aarskog et al., 2020). The ship was designed by the Brødrene Aa and belongs in the 24 MEuro MoZEES program (Arena Ocean Hyway Cluster, 2019). The GKP7H2 is part of the DNV GL Green Coastal Shipping Program and was completed from 2016 to 2019 (Arena Ocean Hyway Cluster, 2019). The project GKP7H2 aims to have a high-speed light craft (HSLC) in operation between Florø and Måløy (in Norway) by 2021 (Reinertsen New Energy, 2018).





Figure 3.36 Zero-V vessel (Madsen et al., 2020).

It's a Feasibility Study of the Zero-V which is a coastal research vessel (Fig. 3.36) powered solely by hydrogen FCs in the USA (Madsen et al., 2020). It has 1800 kW PEMFC power supplemented with lithium-ion bridging batteries that provide both propulsion and ship service electrical needs (Madsen et al., 2020). LH₂ (cryogenic liquid) is stored in two LH₂ tanks (Madsen et al., 2020). The Zero-V has berths for 18 scientists and 11 crew (Madsen et al., 2020). The technical team consists of Sandia National Laboratories, Glosten, the Scripps Institution of Oceanography ("Scripps") at UC San Diego and DNV GL and the final project report-out was in 2017 (Madsen et al., 2020). The anticipated capital construction cost is about \$79 M (Madsen et al., 2020).

No.1

No.1 is the first yacht with a FC propulsion system certified by safety auditor Germanischer Lloyd (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2003). The propulsion system comprises 4x 1.2 kWe PEMFC modules with 9 lead-gel batteries (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2003). It is a sailing yacht (prototype project) in Germany (2002-2004) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016).

[75]

Zeff project (Hyon AS)



Figure 3.37 ZEFF (Zero Emission Fast Ferry) (NCE MCT, n.d.).

In the project ZEFF (Zero Emission Fast Ferry) (Fig. 3.37), which is under the Norwegian government's PILOT-E scheme, the propulsion power of the vessel will be produced by FCs fueled by hydrogen (produced from electrolysis and renewable energy), in combination with batteries and the vessel will have passenger capacity around 100 to 300 (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b). It is a concept study project in Norway (2018-2020) (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). In 2018, project ZEFF was awarded 10.5 MNOK from the scheme PILOT-E (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

Rødne E-Maran project



Figure 3.38 Rødne E-Maran project (Rødne, 2019).

The Rødne E-Maran project (Fig. 3.38), in Norway, will be completed in 2023 (Baumann et al., 2021). It is a concept about fast boats with a FC power of 500-625 kW, a passenger capacity of 130-195 people and hydrogen storage in tanks (Baumann et al., 2021; Rødne, 2019). Three different vessel sizes were investigated (lengths of 20 m, 24 m, 28 m) (Baumann et al., 2021).



Energy Observer

Figure 3.39 Energy Observer vessel (Energy Observer, 2021a).

The Energy Observer vessel (Fig. 3.39) (in France) was at first a sailing racing catamaran, which was later converted into a research/campaign vessel (Baumann et al., 2021). It has electric and wind propulsion (2 OceanWing soft wingsails) and an onboard electrolyzer, supplied by a photovoltaic system and hydrogeneration under wind power (Baumann et al., 2021). Compressed hydrogen is stored at 350 bar (Baumann et al., 2021). It also features 60 kW PEMFC power and batteries and it is in operation since 2017 (Baumann et al., 2021; Energy Observer, 2021b).

DeepC project



Figure 3.40 DeepC vehicle design (Hornfeld, 2003).

DeepC project (Fig. 3.40) (in Germany, in 2004), is a prototype project about the development of an Autonomous Underwater Vehicle (AUV) for great diving depths (Hornfeld, 2003; Zerta et al., 2019). Electrical energy on board is provided by a H_2/O_2 -PEMFC system that is buffered via batteries and the hydrogen and oxygen are stored in pressure gas bottles of 250 bar and 350 bar (Hornfeld, 2003).

HySeas III



Figure 3.41 RoPax ferry (HySeas III, 2021).

HySeas III (in Scotland) is the final stage of a programme on what the team hopes will be, the world's first sea-going vehicle and passenger ferry (RoPax ferry) (Fig. 3.41) with carbon-free hydrogen as energy source (2018-2022) (EC, 2021a; Zerta et al., 2019; CORDIS | EC, 2021a). A part of the

project includes the vessel's hybrid FC power system that is constructing and testing at full scale and in a later stage, the vessel will be built (EC, 2021a). The vessel has PEMFC power of 600 kW, compressed hydrogen stored at 350 bar and a passenger capacity of 120 people with 16 cars/2 trucks (Baumann et al., 2021; Zerta et al., 2019). The total cost of the project is 12,579,610 \in and the EU contribution is 9,276,373 \in (EC, 2021a). It is a demonstration in normal operations type of project with small ship size (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

Urashima



Figure 3.42 AUV Urashima (Maeda et al., 2004).

The AUV Urashima (in 2003) (Fig. 3.42) is a test vehicle for the development of an AUV (in Japan) (Maeda et al., 2004; Zerta et al., 2019). It is the world's first AUV powered by FCs (prototype project) (Maeda et al., 2004; Zerta et al., 2019). It has 4 kW PEMFC and storage of hydrogen gas is made by metal hydride (Maeda et al., 2004; Zerta et al., 2019). The vehicle is also powered by lithium-ion rechargeable battery for hybrid use as the auxiliary power source (Maeda et al., 2004).

Hydroxy 3000



Figure 3.43 Hydroxy 3000 (Büchi et al., 2004).

The Hydroxy 3000 leisure boat (Fig. 3.43) is a prototype project (in Switzerland, in 2003) and is propelled by two electric motors, powered by 3 kW water-cooled PEMFC and a 9 kWh lead-acid battery electric storage unit (Büchi et al., 2004; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). It is for 6 passengers and the hydrogen is stored at 200 bar (Büchi et al., 2004).





Figure 3.44 E5 tug (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019).

E5 tug (Fig. 3.44) is a concept design of an electric tug powered by battery and hydrogen FC with 2x 1500 kW azimuth thruster (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019). It is aiming to launch for commercial operations at Yokohama Port and Kawasaki Port in 2022 (in Japan) (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019). The battery system is used as the main power source and a hydrogen FC and generator as the auxiliary power source (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019). In the future, in combination with renewable energy, it will be possible to achieve zero emissions on Well-to-Propeller basis (Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc, 2019).



Elding I (SMART H₂ project)

Figure 3.45 Elding I ship (Nonstop, 2008).

The Elding I (in 2008, prototype project) is a whale-watching ship (Fig. 3.45) with a hydrogen auxiliary power unit (APU) (10 kW PEMFC power system operated by compressed hydrogen providing electricity for the ship operation) in addition to the regular diesel engine (Nonstop, 2008; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). The Elding I, originally built in Iceland as a rescue ship, can carry 150 passengers (Nonstop, 2008). It is part of the demonstration SMART-H₂ project, which is testing various types of hydrogen-fuelled equipment for vehicles and vessels, and it started in 2007 and ended in 2010 (Nonstop, 2008).

Aranda (MARANDA project)



Figure 3.46 Research vessel Aranda (MARANDA, n.d.).

In the MARANDA project (2017-2022, in Finland), an emission-free hydrogen-fuelled PEMFC {165 kW (2x 82.5 kW AC)} based hybrid (with a battery) powertrain system is developed for marine applications and validated both in test benches and on board the research vessel Aranda (Fig. 3.46) (CORDIS | EC, 2021b). Hydrogen will be stored in a mobile hydrogen storage container, refillable in any 350 bar hydrogen refuelling station (CORDIS | EC, 2021b). It is a demonstration in normal operations type of project with small ship size (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The overall budget of the MARANDA project is 3 704 757,50 \in and the EU contribution is 2 939 457,50 \in (CORDIS | EC, 2021b).

Hynovar project



Figure 3.47 The passenger vessel (Vasquez, 2019).

A hydrogen maritime shuttle (Fig. 3.47) was planned to be developed through the Hynovar project (in France, in 2017) (MÉDITERRANÉE DU FUTUR, n.d.). It is a pilot project (Hyseas Energy, n.d.). The vessel has 200 passengers, FC power and compressed hydrogen storage at 350 bar (Baumann et al., 2021).

X/V-1

HaveBlue developed a propulsion and power generation system that produces renewable hydrogen from purified seawater using clean energy power sources such as solar panels, wind generators and regenerative electric drive motors and in cooperation with Catalina Yachts built its first full-scale technology demonstrator, the X/V-1 (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2004). The vessel is a modified Catalina 42 Mark II yacht that has been fitted with HaveBlue's system to provide all required power and propulsion from renewable hydrogen energy (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2004). It is a sailing yacht (in the USA, in 2005) with 10 kW PEMFC power (prototype project) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016). The hydrogen is stored with metal hydride technology (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2004).

VEGA (Pilot Vaporetto)



Figure 3.48 VEGA/Pilot Vaporetto (Hydrogenics, 2013).

It is a prototype project about a boat (Fig. 3.48) (in Italy, 2005-2006) with 12 kW PEMFC power (Vogler and Sattler, 2016).

Solgenia



Figure 3.49 Solgenia research hybrid boat (Leiner, 2014).

Solgenia (in Germany, in 2007) is a research hybrid boat (Fig. 3.49), which is powered by photovoltaic cells and uses FCs as a back-up system (Leiner, 2014; Vogler and Sattler, 2016). The hydrogen is produced by stationary photovoltaic cells (Leiner, 2014). The boat has a battery capacity of 210 Ah, 3x 1.2 kW PEMFC and hydrogen storage tank onboard of up to 350 bar but the hydrogen is stored at 300 bar (Leiner, 2014). It is a prototype project (Vogler and Sattler, 2016).

Frauscher 600 Riviera HP

Figure 3.50 Frauscher 600 Riviera HP (Barche Magazine, 2009).

Frauscher 600 Riviera HP is a leisure boat/sport boat (Fig. 3.50) (in Austria, in 2009) with 4 kW PEMFC power (commercial project) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Zerta et al., 2019). The hydrogen is green and it is extracted from water using a photovoltaic system and electrolyzer (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2009). It is worth mentioning that an economic advantage compared with conventional electric boats is that no time has to be spent charging the batteries, as for conventional electric boats, 6–8 h of charging corresponds to 4–6 h of actual use (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2009). The boat is the realization of the partners' Future Project Hydrogen (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2009).



BELBIM

Figure 3.51 BELBIM (Hydrogenics, 2013).

It is a ferry (Fig. 3.51) (in Turkey, in 2009), which has 48 kW PEMFC power (prototype project) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016).



FPS Maas vessel

Figure 3.52 FPS Maas vessel (FPS, n.d.).

[85]

FPS Maas is an inland container vessel (Fig.3.52) that will be retrofitted to run 100% on hydrogen in 2022 (in the Netherlands) (FPS, n.d.). Its ICE will be removed and a new system including FCs (825 kW power), a battery pack (battery capacity of 504 kWh for peak-shaving and emergency power), an electric motor and hydrogen storage will be installed on board (Baumann et al., 2021). Compressed hydrogen will be stored at 300 bar (Baumann et al., 2021).

Marti boat



Figure 3.53 Marti boat (Hürriyet Daily News, 2011).

Marti (Fig. 3.53) which means "seagull" is a passenger boat (in Turkey, in 2012) with an 8 kW PEMFC power module (prototype project) (Zerta et al., 2019; Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2012). Hydrogen is stored at 200 bar (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2012).





Figure 3.54 Jules Vernes 2, Navibus (Energy Observer, 2018).

Jules Vernes 2, Navibus (Fig. 3.54) is a passenger ferry (in France, in 2017) with 2x 5 kW PEMFC power (prototype project) (Zerta et al., 2019). The vessel can carry 12 passengers and 6 bicycles (request for exemption for 25 passengers and 1 pilot in progress) (Energy Observer, 2018; Gerard, n.d.). Hydrogen is stored on board in pressure tanks at 350 bar (Gerard, n.d.).

Germanischer Lloyd feeder ship



Figure 3.55 Container feeder ship design (Plump et al., 2013).

It is a study project from Germanischer Lloyd about a zero-emission container feeder vessel (Fig. 3.55) with 5 MW FC systems, 3 MWh battery systems to provide peak power and LH₂ (in Germany, in 2012) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Plump et al., 2013). The vessel has multiple type C tanks to store the LH₂ (Plump et al., 2013). The concept design for this ship was developed by Germanischer Lloyd Group's subsidiary FutureShip and was convincing due to the commercial-off-the-shelf technology and the lack of speculation about potentially evolving equipment (Rohde et al., 2013).

Zero Emission ferry (Scandlines)



Figure 3.56 Zero Emission ferry (Scandlines) (Rohde et al., 2013).

FutureShip designed in 2012 the zero-emission ferry (Fig. 3.56) for Scandlines' Vogelfluglinie that would link Puttgarden in Germany to Rødby in Denmark (study project) (Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Goodwin and Storaker, 2015). The vessel is a passenger/car ferry with 8.3 MW high-temperature FCs powered with LH₂ (Vogler and Sattler, 2016; Goodwin and Storaker, 2015). The hydrogen is stored in C-type tanks on deck (Goodwin and Storaker, 2015). A battery system of 2.4 MWh is installed to store excess electricity from the FCs and supply booster power rapidly when needed (Rohde et al., 2013). The hydrogen is produced by excess wind power from wind power plants near the terminals and the ferry has a truck capacity from 30 to 96 and a passenger capacity from 1150 to 1500. (Rohde et al., 2013). The zero-emission ferry could be operational by 2017 (Rohde et al., 2013).

MF Ole Bull (CMR Prototech)



Figure 3.57 MF Ole Bull car ferry (Svendsen and Opdahl, 2017).

The MF Ole Bull (Fig. 3.57) concerns a car ferry (in Norway, in 2016) with 200 kW PEMFC power (Zerta et al., 2019). The MF Ole Bull ferry belongs to the Osterøy ferry company, which has agreed to participate in a demonstration project, with CMR Prototech, aiming to test a hydrogen FC system on a full scale (Goodwin and Storaker, 2015). The ferry has two diesel engines one of which will be replaced by an electric motor powered by hydrogen FCs in combination with 100 kWh batteries (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2016). CMR Prototech with the experience from the MF Vågen ship provided the foundation for the new project with the MF Ole Bull (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2016). The cost of transforming MF Ole Bull into a hybrid ferry is 542 000 \in financed by Enova but the rebuild is estimated to save around 100 000 \in annually (Grannas, 2019).

ZEUS (Fincantieri)



Figure 3.58 ZEUS–Zero Emission Ultimate Ship (FINCANTIERI SI, n.d.).

ZEUS–Zero Emission Ultimate Ship (Fig. 3.58) (in Italy) is an experimental vessel that is to be delivered in 2021 and it is designed and built by Fincantieri (FINCANTIERI, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). ZEUS will be fitted with 2 diesel generators and 2 electric motors (FINCANTIERI, 2020). It will also be equipped with a 130 kW hydrogen FC system with the hydrogen to be stored in 8 metal hydride cylinders and with a battery system (FINCANTIERI, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021).

Cruise ship (Viking Cruises)

The Norwegian shipping company, Viking Cruises, is working on what could be the world's first cruise ship with zero-emission technology (NCE MCT, 2019). The ship will be fuelled by LH_2 and will have the capacity for more than 900 passengers and a crew of 500 (NCE MCT, 2019). It's a study project and it will be equipped with FCs (in Norway, in 2017) (Zerta et al., 2019).

Hydro Motion Project



Figure 3.59 Hydro Motion boat (TU Delft Solar Boat Team, 2021).

The Hydro Motion Project concerns the refitting of a solar boat to sail on green hydrogen (Fig. 3.59) that was built by the solar boat team of TU Delft in the Netherlands (TU Delft Solar Boat Team, n.d.; TU Delft Solar Boat Team, 2021). It is about the first flying hydrogen-powered boat (hydrofoiling trimaran) (TU Delft Solar Boat Team, n.d.; TU Delft Solar Boat Team, 2021). The boat has 30 kW PEMFC, a battery pack for peak shaving and the hydrogen is stored at 350 bar (TU Delft Solar Boat Team, 2021). The team will continue with the Hydro Motion project and will again design, build, test and race a hydrogen-powered boat in the *Open Sea Class* at the world championships in Monaco (TU Delft Solar Boat Team, n.d.).

Other notable participants with hydrogen boats in the competition in Monaco include for example the Hynova Team from France (ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE, 2021a). **HYNOVA 40** (Fig. 3.60) competed in the Open Sea Class of the 8th Monaco Energy Boat Challenge in July 2021 (ENERGY BOAT



Figure 3.60 HYNOVA 40 (ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE, 2021b).

CHALLENGE, 2021b). HYNOVA 40 is a recreational boat with a capacity for 12 people and two electric engines powered by a hydrogen-electric hybrid system using green hydrogen (ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE, 2021b).

WEVA Project



Figure 3.61 Hydrogen electric cargo ship Antonie (De Laat, 2021).

WEVA project is about building hydrogen electric cargo ship Antonie (Fig. 3.61) that will run on green hydrogen (2021-2023, in the Netherlands) (De Laat, 2021). The ship will be 135 meters long and will transport salt from the Nouryon factory in Delfzijl to the Botlek in Rotterdam (De Laat, 2021). It has a 4 M Green Deal subsidy (De Laat, 2021). The WEVA project is from the Dutch abbreviation for hydrogen electric cargo ship Antonie (first FC-powered inland waterway vessel) and it is focused on the construction and deployment of the Antonie as a 100% hydrogen vessel for shipping company Lenten Scheepvaart BV (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2020). Dutch PEMFC manufacturer Nedstack is participating in the WEVA project (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2020).

Hydrogen-powered rescue boat (MSN)



Figure 3.62 Hydrogen-powered rescue boat (MSN, 2020).

[92]

Marine Service Noord (MSN) worked with students from Noorderpoort Energy & Maritime and built their hydrogen-powered rescue boat (Fig. 3.62) (in 2019, in the Netherlands) (MSN, 2020).



Hydrogen-powered high-speed vessel for the Port of Narvik

The Port of Narvik (in Norway) will build one of the world's first hydrogenpowered high-speed vessels (long-range, high-speed passenger vessel) (Fig. 3.63) (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2021). The boat will have hydrogen FCs from TECO 2030 and will be built by the shipyard Grovfjord Mekaniske Verksted (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2021). The project also involves the establishment of a hydrogen filling station aiming to become the world's first hydrogen filling station for ships and road traffic (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2021). The boat is planned to be completed in 2023 and when completed it will replace one of the port's diesel vessels (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2021).

Figure 3.63 Hydrogen-powered vessel for the Port of Narvik (TECO 2030 ASA, 2021).

ZEPS Patria



Figure 3.64 ZEPS Patria (De Laat, 2021).

The ZEPS (Zero Emission Passenger Ship) is a pilot project (2020-2022, in the Netherlands), which converts an existing passenger ship (MPS Patria) into a hypermodern, hydrogen-powered ship (ZEPS Patria) (Fig. 3.64) (De Laat, 2021). The existing diesel engines will be replaced, a combination of a PEMFC and a Li-battery pack form will be the basis of the energy supply and for back-up energy, solar and wind energy will be used (De Laat, 2021).

Ecolution



Figure 3.65 Ecolution (De Laat, 2021).

Ecolution sailing yacht of Wubbo Ockels (Fig. 3.65) has been retrofitted into hydrogen vessel by the coalition WadDuurzaam in 2021 (De Laat, 2021; WadDuurzaam, n.d.). This ship belongs to hydrogen ships of Lauwersoog in Netherlands (De Laat, 2021).

Hydrogen Watertaxi



Figure 3.66 Hydrogen Watertaxi (De Laat, 2021).

This project (2020-2023, in the Netherlands) is developed within the zero-emission shipping program THRUST as it is called and all hydrogen-related components are to be developed by zepp.solutions (De Laat, 2021). The hydrogen Watertaxi (Fig. 3.66) is part of the Speckless Water-based Inland Mobility (SWIM) consortium (Enviu, Zepp Solutions, Flying Fish and Watertaxi Rotterdam) and it is running entirely on hydrogen (De Laat, 2021). The first passengers aimed to be able to board in 2021 (De Laat, 2021).

H₂ harbour tug (OSD-IMT)



Figure 3.67 H₂ harbour tug (OSD-IMT, 2019).

OSD-IMT, a ship design and maritime consultancy business, and PEMFC Market Leader Nedstack have collaborated to create a concept design for a completely electric-powered 65-tonne bollard pull harbour tug (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The propulsion motors' electric power is generated onboard by hydrogen FCs, resulting in a zero-emission tug (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The tug (Fig. 3.67) has a FC power of 2000 kW and the hydrogen storage location is containerized on deck (Baumann et al., 2021). The project takes place in the Netherlands (Baumann et al., 2021).

Noe (Barillec Marine)



Figure 3.68 Noe ferry (Coprexma, n.d.).

This project is about a ferry (Fig. 3.68) (in France, in 2020) with 2x 1000 kW PEMFC power (pilot project) (Zerta et al., 2019). The ferry has a capacity of 200 passengers (Coprexma, n.d.).



Cheetah Marine hydrogen catamaran

Figure 3.69 Cheetah Marine hydrogen catamaran (Cheetah Marine, 2016a).

Cheetah Marine has been developing and testing a hydrogen-powered catamaran in collaboration with ITM Power, a specialist in hydrogen energy systems (Cheetah Marine, 2016a). The 9.95m Cheetah uses a hydrogen ICE that produces only water and no CO_2 (Cheetah Marine, 2016a). The catamaran

(Fig. 3.69) designed and built at Cheetah's workshops on the Isle of Wight (Island in England) and has hydrogen stored in twin tanks at 350 bar (Cheetah Marine, 2016b).



HyDIME (Hydrogen Diesel Injection in a Marine Environment) project

Figure 3.70 Shapinsay ferry (HyDIME, n.d.).

HyDIME (Hydrogen Diesel Injection in a Marine Environment) is a 12month UK project that will use green hydrogen produced by wind and tidal power as a fuel for an existing commercial passenger and vehicle ferry (Fig. 3.70) operating between Shapinsay and Kirkwall in Orkney (HyDIME, n.d.). The ferry will have a hydrogen injection system, which is a hydrogen dual fuel system that uses compressed hydrogen gas to displace diesel in ICEs (HyDIME, n.d.). The project is funded by Innovate UK with £430,000 (HyDIME, n.d.). Hydrogen tanks will be located below decks so will have very little effect on the capacity of the vessel (HyDIME, n.d.).
CTV H₂ PIRIOU



Figure 3.71 CTV H₂ PIRIOU (PIRIOU, 2020).

PIRIOU (in France) aims to create a CTV (Fig. 3.71) with hydrogen hybrid propulsion (PIRIOU, 2020). The CTV has 2x 1000 kW main engines power, 2x 140 kW FCs power, a crew of 3, personnel of 24 people and the hydrogen is stored in 20' container (PIRIOU, 2020).

Green Pearl River project

Through the project of Green Pearl River, designed and developed the hydrogen FC demonstration ship by China State Shipbuilding Corporation (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The ship is an inland river self-unloading ship with 4x 125kW hydrogen PEMFC as the main power source and a 4x 250kWh lithium battery pack for peak shaving compensation (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). Hydrogen is stored in a 35 MPa high-pressure hydrogen cylinder group. It is a demonstration in normal operations project (in China, 2020-2021) (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021).

Coastal Liberty (ACTA MARINE)



Figure 3.72 Coastal Liberty ship (ACTA MARINE, n.d.).

On October 20, 2020, was confirmed the feasibility for upgrading the supply vessels for the Mittelplate drilling and production island in the German North Sea with a hydrogen hybrid propulsion system (Wintershall Dea, 2020). The first supply ship that would be refitted with the hybrid propulsion system is the Coastal Liberty (Fig. 3.72) (Wintershall Dea, 2020). The present diesel-mechanical propulsion system will be upgraded to a hydrogen-hybrid propulsion system with electric engines that are powered by hydrogen FCs with the generated electricity from the FCs to be stored in batteries (Wintershall Dea, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). The vessel has liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage system located containerized on deck (Baumann et al., 2021). The feasibility study done under EnTec's (EnTec Industrial Services GmbH) leadership serves as the starting point for the planned retrofitting (Wintershall Dea, 2020).

[99]

DFDS hydrogen ferry



Figure 3.73 DFDS hydrogen ferry (DFDS, 2020).

This project (in Denmark, project completion in 2027) is about a 100% green hydrogen-powered ferry (Fig. 3.73) for DFDS' Oslo–Frederikshavn– Copenhagen route (DFDS, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). The ship, with the working name Europa Seaways, will have 23000 kW PEMFC power, 1800 passenger capacity and 2300 lane meters car/truck capacity and compressed GH₂ storage (DFDS, 2020; Baumann et al., 2021). A projected offshore wind energy-powered electrolyser plant in Greater Copenhagen will generate the green hydrogen (DFDS, 2020).

With Orca vessel



Figure 3.74 With Orca vessel (Norwegian Ship Design, 2021).

With Orca vessel is a cargo ship (Fig. 3.74) that will be powered by hydrogen-fueled ICE with auxiliary wind propulsion provided by two Flettner rotors (Norwegian Ship Design, 2021; Baumann et al., 2021). The ship is

planned to operate off the coast of Norway, transporting aggregates and grains (in Norway, vessel launch is expected in 2024) (Baumann et al., 2021). HeidelbergCement Norway and Felleskjøpet AGRI are the project leaders (Baumann et al., 2021). It will have compressed GH₂ storage (Baumann et al., 2021).

Project SeaShuttle (Hyon AS)



Figure 3.75 Project SeaShuttle container vessel (Hyon, n.d.).

In project SeaShuttle, which is under the Norwegian government's PILOT-E scheme, will be developed and demonstrated a zero-emission coastal freighter with automated cargo handling, for profitable container transport in the short-sea market (Fig. 3.75) (Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019b). The project has been awarded 6 million € by the Norwegian government (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). It is a "demonstration in normal operations" project in Norway (in 2018) (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021; Baumann et al., 2021). The project includes two all-electric container ships (Hyon, n.d.). The vessels will have hydrogen FCs (2,000 kW FC power) for their propulsion power and diesel-electric and battery operation (Baumann et al., 2021; Hyon, n.d.).

Project AQUA



Figure 3.76 Project AQUA (Lateral Engineering, n.d.).

Lateral Engineering's project AQUA (in the UK) in cooperation with SINOT Yacht Architecture & Design utilizes hydrogen-electric propulsion and energy system architecture to deploy a yacht for transatlantic operation (Fig. 3.76) (Lateral Engineering, n.d.; Baumann et al., 2021). AQUA is fitted with Lateral's TREADWATER propulsion idea that uses a Contra Rotating Propeller (CRP) and two Voith Schneider Propellers (VSP) (Lateral Engineering, n.d.). The yacht has liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage system located below the deck and PEMFC power of 4 MW (Baumann et al., 2021; Lateral Engineering, n.d.).

NYK Line hydrogen-powered tourist ship

NYK Line develops a 100-passenger tour boat powered by electric batteries and hydrogen FCs (in Japan, completion in 2024) (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). A feasibility study will be conducted first, followed by design work on the boat and its hydrogen fuel supply system (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The project will contain the development of new shipboard technology, including the fuel supply system and the creation of an energy management system to combine power from the battery and the FC (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). The vessel and the hydrogen supply system are being designed following a feasibility study, with construction slated to begin in 2023 and a pilot demonstration in 2024 (Baumann et al., 2021).

ROYAL IHC RECEIVES APPROVAL IN PRINCIPLE FOR HYDROGEN-FUELLED TSHD

Royal IHC hydrogen dredger

Figure 3.77 Royal IHC hydrogen dredger (Royal IHC, 2021).

Royal IHC got "approval in principle" (AiP) from the classification society Bureau Veritas for the design of a trailing suction hopper dredger (TSHD) powered by hydrogen (Royal IHC, 2021). Royal IHC is investigating a new type of vessel known as the "LEAF" (low energy adaptive fuel) hopper in collaboration with the Dutch Rijkswaterstaat (Royal IHC, 2021). The vessel (Fig. 3.77) can be operational in 2024 and it is intended to be used to maintain the Dutch coastline (Royal IHC, 2021). Only during the vessel's construction and the production of green hydrogen is a little quantity of CO₂, sulfur oxides (SO_x), NO_x, and particulate matter emitted (Royal IHC, 2021). Furthermore, various design elements on the LEAF hopper, such as an electric drive train and energy recovery systems, contribute to low energy consumption (Royal IHC, 2021).

ULSTEIN J102 jack-up WTIV



Figure 3.78 ULSTEIN J102 jack-up WTIV (ULSTEIN, 2020).

ULSTEIN J102 jack-up vessel (in the Netherlands) is a zero-emission wind turbine installation vessel (WTIV) (Fig. 3.78) (Baumann et al., 2021; ULSTEIN, 2020). The vessel has a PEMFC system, battery energy storage system (BESS), and containerized storage of compressed hydrogen (Baumann et al., 2021; ULSTEIN, 2020).

VEZ–Vaporetto a Zero Emissioni



Figure 3.79 VEZ–Vaporetto a Zero Emissioni boat (S.A.T.E., n.d.).

VEZ, Vaporetto a Zero Emissioni (Fig. 3.79) (zero-emission water-bus) is a project funded under Horizon 2020, (in Italy, 2014-2015) regarding a zeroemission Vaporetto type vehicle ideal for public water transport (S.A.T.E., n.d.). Two version studies were conducted one of which includes the boat powered by roof-mounted PV cells, batteries and hydrogen-air FCs (PEMFC) (S.A.T.E., n.d.).

HYDROMER dredger



Figure 3.80 HYDROMER dredger (PIRIOU, 2021).

PIRIOU received an order from the French Occitanie Region on the design and realization of a trailing suction hopper dredger (Fig. 3.80) fitted with a hydrogen FC (PIRIOU, 2021). The usage of a hydrogen FC is predicted to help save up to 20% of the vessel fuel oil consumption (PIRIOU, 2021). The dredger has a 1500 m³ capacity to transport sediments and is planned to be delivered in Sète-south France- in the 3rd quarter of 2023 (PIRIOU, 2021). The crew capacity includes 14 people (PIRIOU, 2021).

NYK Super Eco Ship 2050



Figure 3.81 NYK Super Eco Ship 2050 (NYK Group, 2016).

The Super Eco Ship 2050 (in Japan) (Fig. 3.81) by NYK is a concept design (concept study) that envisions what a future zero-emissions vessel would resemble (Fahnestock and Bingham, 2021). Along with many other features, the vessel is powered by hydrogen FCs (SOFC) with hydrogen produced by renewable energy sources (NYK Group, 2016). It also has about $9,000 \text{ m}^2$ of solar panels (NYK Group, 2016).

4. Results and discussion

аа	VESSEL or PROJECT	COUNTRY	HYDROGEN PROPULSIO N	HYDROGEN STORAGE ONBOARD	PASSENGER & VEHICLE CAPACITY	VESSEL TYPE
1	CLASS U212A & U214	GERMANY	PEMFC	METAL HYDRIDE	27 CREW (U212A)	SUBMARINES
2	HYDRA	GERMANY	AFC	METAL HYDRIDE	22 PASSENGER S	WATER TAXI
3	HYDROGENE SIS	UK	PEMFC	TANK AT UP TO 350 BAR	12 PASSENGER S & 2 CREWS	FERRY
4	ROSS BARLOW	UK	PEMFC	TiMn₂- BASED METAL HYDRIDE	-	CANAL BOAT
5	FCS ALSTERWAS SER	GERMANY	PEMFC	AT 350 BAR/15°C	100 PASSENGER S	INLAND PASSENGER VESSEL
6	DUFFY- HERRESHOF F DH30	USA	PEMFC	NaBH ₄	18 PASSENGER S	WATER TAXI
7	XPERIANCE NX HYDROGEN	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	4 EXCHANGE ABLE 200 BAR TANKS	12 PASSENGER S	LEISURE BOAT
8	TUCKERBOO T (H₂YACHT)	GERMANY	PEMFC	METAL HYDRIDE CONTAINER S	8 PASSENGER S	SPORT BOAT
9	NEMO H₂	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	6 CYLINDERS AT 350 BAR	86 PASSENGER S AND 2 CREW	CANAL BOAT
10	GOLD GREEN HYGEN	KOREA	PEMFC	CYLINDERS AT 35 MPA	50 PASSENGER S	TOURIST BOAT
11	HYBRIDship PROJECT	NORWAY	FC	-	-	FERRY
12	FreeCO2ast PROJECT	NORWAY	FC	LIQUEFIED CRYOGENIC	-	ROPAX
13	FLAGSHIPS PROJECT- ZULU	FRANCE	FC	AT 300 BAR	-	INLAND CARGO VESSEL
14	FLAGSHIPS PROJECT- HIDLE	NORWAY	PEMFC	AT 250 BAR	199 (PASSENGER S & CREW)	PASSENGER AND CAR FERRY
15	FLAGSHIPS PROJECT- FPS WAAL	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	-	-	CONTAINER CARGO VESSEL
16	AERO 42 H₂	NORWAY	FC	AT 250 BAR	277 PASSENGER S	FAST FERRY (HSC)

17	ULSTEIN SX190 ZERO EMISSION DP2	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	IN CONTAINERI ZED PRESSURE VESSELS AT 500 BAR	-	OFFSHORE CONSTRUCTI ON VESSEL
18	HySHIP PROJECT- TOPEKA	NORWAY	PEMFC	STORAGE TANKS (65- 100 m ³)	56 SEMI- TRAILERS or 180 CARS	RO-RO DEMONSTRAT ION VESSEL
19	HHHT PROJECT (GREEN TUG)	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	AT 430 BAR	-	TUG
20	H2SHIPS PROJECT	NETHERL ANDS	FC	NaBH₄	25 PASSENGER S	PORT VESSEL
21	HYDROVILLE PROJECT	BELGIUM	HYDROGEN- DIESEL ICE	TANKS- CYLINDERS 200 BAR	-	CREWBOAT CATAMARAN (PASSENGER SHUTTLE)
22	HYDROTUG	BELGIUM	HYDROGEN- DIESEL ICE	250 BAR	-	BOLLARD PULL- TRACTOR TUG
23	HYDROCAT	BELGIUM	HYDROGEN- DIESEL ICE	350 BAR	24 PASSENGER S	CTV
24	HYDROBING O	JAPAN	HYDROGEN- DIESEL ICE	INSIDE A MOBILE TRAILER	80 PASSENGER S	SHUTTLE
25	MF VÅGEN	NORWAY	PEMFC	METAL HYDRIDE	SMALL PASSENGER SHIP	COMMUTER FERRY
26	ELEKTRA	GERMANY	PEMFC	500 BAR	-	PUSH BOAT
27	HORNBLOWE R HYBRID	USA	PEMFC	-	600 PASSENGER S	FERRY
28	SF-BREEZE	USA	PEMFC	ABOVE DECK	150 PASSENGER S	HIGH-SPEED PASSENGER FERRY
29	SEA CHANGE (EX. WATER- GO-ROUND)	USA	PEMFC	AT 250 BAR	84 PASSENGER S	PASSENGER FERRY
30	KAMINE BOAT	JAPAN	PEMFC	-	-	TEST BOAT
31	ZET	GERMANT	PEIVIFC	-	-	SPORTBOAT
32	RACE FOR WATER	SWITZERL AND	FC	AT 350 BAR IN CYLINDERS	11 PASSENGER S	ENVIRONMEN TALLY- FRIENDLY VESSEL- CATAMARAN
33	MF HYDRA (NORLED)	NORWAY	FC	LIQUEFIED CRYOGENIC	299 PASSENGER S & 80 CARS/10 TRUCKS	FERRY
34	GKP7H2 PROJECT	NORWAY	FC	250 BAR	100 PASSENGER S	HIGH SPEED PASSENGER FERRY

35	ZERO-V	USA	PEMFC	LH ₂ TANKS	18 SCIENTISTS AND 11 CREW	COASTAL RESEARCH VESSEL
36	No.1	GERMANY	PEMFC	-	-	SAILING YACHT
37	ZEFF PROJECT (Hyon AS)	NORWAY	FC	-	100-300 PASSENGER S	FAST FERRY
38	RØDNE E- MARAN PROJECT	NORWAY	FC	TANKS	130-195 PASSENGER S	FAST BOAT
39	ENERGY OBSERVER	FRANCE	PEMFC	AT 350 BAR	-	RESEARCH/C AMPAIGN VESSEL (SAILING RACING CATAMARAN ORIGINALLY)
40	DEEPC PROJECT	GERMANY	PEMFC	IN PRESSURE GAS BOTTLES	-	AUV
41	HYSEAS III	SCOTLAN D	PEMFC	AT 350 BAR	120 PEOPLE WITH 16 CARS/2 TRUCKS	ROPAX FERRY
42	URASHIMA	JAPAN	PEMFC	METAL HYDRIDE	-	AUV
43	HYDROXY 3000	SWITZERL AND	PEMFC	AT 200 BAR	6 PASSENGER S	LEISURE BOAT
44	E5 TUG	JAPAN	FC	-	-	TUG
45	Elding I (SMART H ₂ PROJECT)	ICELAND	PEMFC	-	150 PASSENGER S	WHALE- WATCHING SHIP
46	ARANDA (MARANDA PROJECT)	FINLAND	PEMFC	MOBILE HYDROGEN STORAGE CONTAINER	-	RESEARCH VESSEL
47	HYNOVAR PROJECT	FRANCE	FC	AT 350 BAR	200 PASSENGER S	PASSENGER VESSEL
48	X/V-1	USA	PEMFC	METAL HYDRIDE	-	SAILING YACHT
49	VEGA (PILOT VAPORETTO)	ITALY	PEMFC	-	-	BOAT
50	SOLGENIA	GERMANY	PEMFC	300 BAR	-	RESEARCH BOAT
51	FRAUSCHER 600 RIVIERA HP	AUSTRIA	PEMFC	-	-	LEISURE BOAT/SPORT BOAT
52	BELBIM	TURKEY	PEMFC	-	-	FERRY
53	FPS Maas	NETHERL ANDS	FC	AT 300 BAR	-	INLAND CONTAINER VESSEL

54	MARTI BOAT	TURKEY	PEMFC	AT 200 BAR	-	PASSENGER BOAT
55	JULES VERNES 2 (NAVIBUS)	FRANCE	PEMFC	350 BAR	12 PASSENGER S AND 6 BICYCLES	PASSENGER FERRY
56	Germanischer Lloyd FEEDER SHIP	GERMANY	FC	TYPE C TANKS	-	CONTAINER FEEDER SHIP
57	ZERO EMISSION FERRY (SCANDLINES)	GERMANY	FC	TYPE C TANKS	TRUCK CAPACITY: 30-96, AND PASSENGER CAPACITY: 1150-1500	PASSENGER/ CAR FERRY
58	MF OLE BULL (CMR PROTOTECH)	NORWAY	PEMFC	-	-	CAR FERRY
59	ZEUS (FINCANTIERI)	ITALY	FC	METAL HYDRIDE CYLINDERS	-	EXPERIMENT AL VESSEL
60	CRUISE SHIP (VIKING CRUISES)	NORWAY	FC	-	900 PASSENGER S AND A CREW OF 500	CRUISE SHIP
61	HYDRO MOTION PROJECT	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	350 BAR	-	HYDROFOILIN G TRIMARAN
62	WEVA PROJECT	NETHERL ANDS	FC	-	-	CARGO SHIP
63	HYDROGEN POWERED RESCUE BOAT (MSN)	NETHERL ANDS	-	-	-	RESCUE BOAT
64	HYDROGEN- POWERED HIGH-SPEED VESSEL FOR THE PORT OF NARVIK	NORWAY	FC	-	-	LONG-RANGE, HIGH-SPEED PASSENGER VESSEL
65	ZEPS PATRIA	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	-	-	PASSENGER SHIP
66	ECOLUTION	NETHERL ANDS	-	-	-	SAILING YACHT
67	HYDROGEN WATERTAXI	NETHERL ANDS	-	-	-	WATER TAXI
68	H₂ HARBOUR TUG (OSD- IMT)	NETHERL ANDS	FC	CONTAINERI ZED ON DECK	-	TUG
69	NOE (BARILLEC MARINE)	FRANCE	PEMFC	-	200 PASSENGER S	FERRY
70	CHEETAH MARINE HYDROGEN CATAMARAN	UK	HYDROGEN ICE	IN TWIN TANKS AT 350 BAR	-	CATAMARAN
71	HyDIME	UK	HYDROGEN- DIESEL ICE	TANKS BELOW DECK	-	PASSENGER AND VEHICLE FERRY

72	CTV H₂ PIRIOU	FRANCE	FC	IN 20' CONTAINER	CREW OF 3, PERSONNEL OF 24 PEOPLE	CTV
73	GREEN PEARL RIVER PROJECT	CHINA	PEMFC	35 MPa	-	INLAND RIVER SELF- UNLOADING SHIP
74	COASTAL LIBERTY (ACTA MARINE)	GERMANY	FC	LIQUEFIED CRYOGENIC	-	SUPPLY VESSEL
75	DFDS HYDROGEN FERRY	DENMARK	PEMFC	COMPRESS ED GH ₂ STORAGE	1800 PASSENGER CAPACITY & 2300 LANE METERS CAR/TRUCK CAPACITY	FERRY
76	WITH ORCA VESSEL	NORWAY	HYDROGEN ICE	COMPRESS ED GH ₂ STORAGE	-	CARGO SHIP
77	PROJECT SEASHUTTLE (HYON AS)	NORWAY	FC	-	-	CONTAINER SHIP
78	PROJECT AQUA	UK	PEMFC	LIQUEFIED CRYOGENIC BELOW DECK	-	YACHT
79	NYK LINE HYDROGEN- POWERED TOURIST SHIP	JAPAN	FC	-	100 PASSENGER S	TOUR BOAT
80	ROYAL IHC HYDROGEN DREDGER	NETHERL ANDS	-	-	-	TRAILING SUCTION HOPPER DREDGER (TSHD)
81	ULSTEIN J102 jack-up WTIV	NETHERL ANDS	PEMFC	CONTAINERI ZED STORAGE OF COMPRESS ED HYDROGEN	-	JACK-UP WTIV
82	VEZ- VAPORETTO A ZERO EMISSIONI	ITALY	PEMFC	-	-	WATER-BUS
83	HYDROMER DREDGER	FRANCE	FC	-	14 CREW PEOPLE	TRAILING SUCTION HOPPER DREDGER
84	NYK SUPER ECO SHIP 2050	JAPAN	SOFC	-	-	ECO SHIP

Table 4.1 Hydrogen use as a marine fuel.



Chart 4.1 Countries with hydrogen as marine fuel projects.

From Pie 4.1 it can be observed that 18 countries have deployed projects with hydrogen as a marine fuel all over the world. Most important is that Netherlands, Norway and Germany have the biggest number of these projects with 19%, 18% and 14% respectively of projects that have been found after the research. Following France (8%), Japan (7%), USA (7%) and UK (6%) etc.



Chart 4.2 Type of hydrogen propulsion.

From Pie 4.2, it can be observed that 87% of the vessels that use hydrogen as a marine fuel are powered with FC systems of which 55% use PEMFC, 1% AFC and 1% SOFC. On the other hand, ONLY 6% of the projects use dual fuel (hydrogen-diesel) ICE and 2% hydrogen ICE. Finally, 5% of the projects do not clarify what is the exact propulsion type that they use. According to table 4.1, the hydrogen storage onboard mainly focuses on compressed GH₂ at pressures between 200-500 bar with commonly use the 350 bar or storing hydrogen in the liquid form with a liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage system or in solid form with metal hydrides like the NaBH₄. Storage location either can be in mobile or stable tanks, cylinders, type C tanks, or containerized, located on the deck or below the deck.

The vessels with hydrogen as a marine fuel are different types for many uses. The use of hydrogen in ships has been used to power submarines or AUV, water taxis, water-bus, ferries, ROPAX, RO-RO, passenger vessels, passengers and cars ferry, car ferry, crew-boat catamaran, shuttles, canal boat, tourist boats, cargo vessels, container vessels, fast vessels (fast ferry (HSC), high-speed passenger ferry, etc.), tugs, push boat, test boat, research vessels, yachts, leisure boats/sport boats. Hydrogen as a fuel has been also used for whale-watching ship, cruise ship, hydrofoiling trimaran, rescue boat, inland river self-unloading ship, supply vessel, offshore construction vessel, jack-up vessel (WTIV), trailing suction hopper dredgers.

Most of the 84 hydrogen-powered vessels are small size vessels. The only exception is about four vessels, which are a cruise vessel with 900 passengers capacity and a crew of 500 people, a potential ship with 1800 passenger capacity and 2300 lane meters car/truck capacity, a ferry of 600 passengers and a car ferry with a truck capacity of 30-96 and passenger capacity of 1150-1500. The passengers capacity of the rest vessels is ranking between 6-300 passengers.

5. Conclusions and recommendations

According to the findings, from 2000 onwards, the Netherlands, Norway, and Germany appear to have the most hydrogen-powered vessels with 19%, 18%, and 14% respectively. The preferred hydrogen propulsion system is fuel cells. More specifically, it is used PEMFC in most cases and hydrogen is stored either as compressed gas at 350 bar or in liquid form with a liquefied cryogenic hydrogen storage system or in solid form with metal hydrides. The vessels are small size ships with some exceptions and around 6-300 passengers capacity. The types of vessels that are powered with hydrogen are many with most of them to be ferries.

Therefore, hydrogen as a marine fuel seems to be a very promising method to power the vessels in order to reduce GHG emissions and meet the IMO's targets for the 2050 (reduce GHG emissions from international shipping by at least 50% by 2050). Many countries have already begun to deploy such vessels. Unfortunately, there are currently no regulatory requirements for hydrogen as a maritime fuel, so it is urgent to be implemented such rules as soon as possible since hydrogen as a marine fuel is very potential and has begun to expand fast, particularly in 2021.

Furthermore, it is known that the most abundant chemical element in the universe is hydrogen. Nonetheless, on Earth, hydrogen is created by the use of energy from other hydrogen-containing sources like nuclear sources, carbon sources or renewable sources, and it can power an entire economy. When the source of power is renewable, there are no CO₂ emissions from hydrogen (green hydrogen). A decrease in hydrogen production costs and an increase in

[114]

hydrogen availability have the potential to make hydrogen the preferred fuel alternative choice for marine vessels. The cost of marine hydrogen will decline as more countries create hydrogen from renewable sources.

Hydrogen poses no more or lesser risk than other combustible fuels such as gasoline and natural gas. It is critical that the crew of a hydrogen-powered ship is taught on how to maintain a hydrogen system on board a ship as well as how to manage fire safety. Storage and availability are the two most expensive aspects of converting a vessel to hydrogen as a marine fuel vessel. Finally, it is worth noting that in 2021, MF HYDRA was announced as the ship of the year (Fig. 5.1) (Norled LinkedIn official page).



Figure 5.1 MF HYDRA (Norled)-Ship of the year 2021 (Norled LinkedIn official page).

6. References

- Aarskog, F. G., Hansen, O. R., Strømgren, T., and Ulleberg, Ø. (2020). Concept risk assessment of a hydrogen driven high speed passenger ferry. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 45(2): 1359-1372. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.05.128.
- ABS (American Bureau of Shipping). (2021). SUSTAINABILITY WHITEPAPER-HYDROGEN AS MARINE FUEL. USA: ABS. https://maritimecyprus.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/ABS-hydrogen-asmarine-fuel.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-20).
- ACTA MARINE. (n.d.). Coastal Liberty. https://www.actamarine.com/vessels/42/Coastal-Liberty (Accessed 2022-01-27).
- Ammar, N. R., and Alshammari, N. F. S. H. (2018). Overview of the Green Hydrogen Applications in Marine Power Plants Onboard Ships. International Journal of Multidisciplinary and Current Research, 6: 84-89. doi.org/10.14741/ijmcr.v6i01.10912.
- Andersson, K., Brynolf, S., Lindgren, J. F., and Wilewska-Bien, M. (eds.). (2016). Shipping and the Environment: Improving Environmental Performance in Marine Transportation. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-662-49045-7.
- Arena Ocean Hyway Cluster. (2019). GKP7H2. https://www.oceanhywaycluster.no/projectlist/project-1 (Accessed 2021-12-16).
- Barche Magazine. (2009). Frauscher 600 Riviera hp (hybrid power), ritorno al futuro. https://www.barchemagazine.com/frauscher-600-riviera-hp-hybrid-power/ (Accessed 2021-12-21).
- Baumann, J., Boillot, L., Bruinsma, J., Cebolla, R. O., d'Amore-Domenech, R., Danebergs, J., Hansen, O. R., Leisner, M., Leo, T. J., MacLaine, M., Saint-Just, J., Schjølberg, I., Shumaker, C., Stromgren, T., Turnock, S., Vasquez, A., Villalba-Herreros, A., and Visser, K. (2021). IEA'S HYDROGEN TCP TASK 39-HYDROGEN IN THE MARITIME-Final Report. Baumann, J (ed.). https://ntnuopen.ntnu.no/ntnu-xmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2827754/Task-39-Final-Report.pdf?sequence=1 (Accessed 2021-11-10).
- BeHydro. (n.d.). Information Sheet. https://www.abcengines.com/uploads/files/Behydro-information-sheet.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-30).
- Benson, N. (2008). Global Warming. In Philander, S. G. (ed.). Encyclopedia of global warming and climate change, VOLUMES 1-3. USA: SAGE Publications, Inc, 456-460. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/306106487_Global_Warming (Accessed 2021-08-28).
- Bevan, A. I., Züttel, A., Book, D., and Harris, I. R. (2011). Performance of a metal hydride store on the "Ross Barlow" hydrogen powered canal boat. Faraday Discussions, 151:353-367. doi:10.1039/c0fd00025f.
- Book, D. (2013). "Ross Barlow" Hydrogen-powered Canal Boat. FCH-JU: Fuel Cells & Hydrogen for maritime & harbour applications Venice. http://www.eurosfaire.prd.fr/7pc/documents/1374147488_dbook_fchju_mari time_venice_13jun13_v5c.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-04).
- Bristol Hydrorgen Boats. (n.d.). Photos and Images.

http://www.bristolhydrogenboats.co.uk/photos.html (Accessed: 2021-12-04).

- Brundtland Commission. (1987). Our Common Future. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/5987ourcommon-future.pdf.
- BRYNOLF, S. (2014). Environmental Assessment of Present and Future Marine Fuels. Ph.D. Thesis. CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY. https://research.chalmers.se/publication/196899/file/196899_Fulltext.pdf.
- Büchi, F.N., Affolter, J.-F., Camenzind, S., Chmielewski, N., Dietrich, P., Höckel, M. Ruge, M., and Santis, M. (2004). PEFC: Stacks, Systems, and Applications. CHIMIA International Journal for Chemistry, 58(12): 869–878. doi:10.2533/000942904777677074.
- Campe, R. (2019). Hydrogen co-combustion in ICE. ICCT ZEV Workshop. CMB Technologies.

https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/2_Campe_H2_combustion_ICE_PUBLI C.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-31).

- Campillo, J., Dominguez-Jimenez, J.A., and Cabrera, J. (2019). Sustainable Boat Transportation Throughout Electrification of Propulsion Systems: Challenges and Opportunities. In 2019 2nd Latin American Second Latin American Conference on Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS LATAM). Bogota, Colombia, 19-20 March, 1–6. doi:10.1109/ITSLATAM.2019.8721330.
- Carpenter, A., Johansson, T. M., and Skinner, J. A. (eds.). (2021). Sustainability in the Maritime Domain: Towards Ocean Governance and Beyond. Strategies for Sustainability. Switzerland: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-69325-1.
- Chakraborty, S., Dzielendziak, A. S., Koroglu, T., and Yang, K. (2013). Evaluation of smart eco-friendly public transport options in coastal cities: towards a green future for the city of Southampton.In Shenoi, R. A., Wilson, P. A., and Bennett, S.S. (eds.). LRF Collegium 2013 Series, Volume 2. England: University of Southampton. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/260283331_Evaluation_of_smart eco-

friendly_public_transport_options_in_coastal_cities_towards_a_green_futur e_for_the_city_of_Southampton.

- Cheetah Marine. (2016a). Cheetah go Hydrogen powered. https://www.cheetahmarine.co.uk/en/deliveries/cheetah-go-hydrogenpowered (Accessed 2022-01-03).
- Cheetah Marine. (2016b). World's first hydrogen powered boat smashes targets. https://www.cheetahmarine.co.uk/en/deliveries/worlds-firsthydrogen-powered-boat-smashes-targets (Accessed 2022-01-28).
- Choi, C. H., Yu, S., Han, I.-S., Kho, B.-K., Kang, D.-G., Lee, H. Y., Seo, M.-S., Kong, J.-W., Kim, G. Ahn, J.-W., Park, S.-K., Jang, D.-W., Lee, J. H., and Kim, M. (2016). Development and demonstration of PEM fuel-cell-battery hybrid system for propulsion of tourist boat. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 41(5): 3591-3599. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.12.186.
- Coprexma. (n.d.). NØÉ. https://coprexma.fr/portfolios/noe/ (Accessed 2022-01-03).
- CORDIS | EC (CORDIS | European Commission). (2020). HyShip Project (Grant agreement ID 101007205).DEMONSTRATING LIQUID

HYDROGENFORTHEMARITIMESECTOR.https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/101007205 (Accessed 2021-12-09).

- CORDIS | EC (CORDIS | European Commission). (2021a). HySeas III Project (Grant agreement ID 769417). Realising the world's first sea-going hydrogen-powered RoPax ferry and a business model for European islands. https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/769417 (Accessed 2021-12-19).
- CORDIS | EC (CORDIS | European Commission). (2021b). MARANDA Project (Grant agreement ID: 735717). Marine application of a new fuel cell powertrain validated in demanding arctic conditions. https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/735717 (Accessed 2021-12-19).
- Das, L.M. (2016). Chapter 7 Hydrogen-fueled internal combustion engines. In Barbir, F., Basile, A., and Veziroğlu, T. N. (eds.). Compendium of Hydrogen Energy- Volume 3: Hydrogen Energy Conversion. Woodhead Publishing, 177–217. doi:10.1016/b978-1-78242-363-8.00007-4.
- De Laat, P. (2021). Overview of Hydrogen Projects in the Netherlands. TKI Nieuw Gas- Topsector Energie. https://www.topsectorenergie.nl/sites/default/files/uploads/TKI%20Gas/publ icaties/Overview%20Hydrogen%20projects%20in%20the%20Netherlands %20-%20version%2015%20juni%202021.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-02).
- De Witte, E. (2018). Low Emission Vessel Hydroville. CMB Technologies. https://www.hylaw.eu/sites/default/files/2018-12/2.%20CMB%20Technologies%20-%20HyLaw.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-30).
- Deniz, C. and Zincir, B. (2016). Environmental and economical assessment of alternative marine fuels. Journal of Cleaner Production, 113: 438–449. doi:10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.11.089.
- DFDS. (2020). Partnership aims to develop hydrogen ferry for Oslo-Copenhagen. https://www.dfds.com/en/about/media/news/hydrogen-ferryfor-oslo-copenhagen (Accessed 2022-01-06).
- Díaz-de-Baldasano, M. C., Mateos, F. J., Núñez-Rivas, L. R., and Leo, T. J. (2014). Conceptual design of offshore platform supply vessel based on hybrid diesel generator-fuel cell power plant. Applied Energy, 116: 91–100. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.11.049.
- Dirk, S. (2013). Fuel Cell Solutions for maritime and harbour applications. Proton Motor Fuel Cell GmbH. http://www.eurosfaire.prd.fr/7pc/documents/1374147913_sebastian_dirk_____proton_motor.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-12).
- DNV. (2021). HANDBOOK FOR HYDROGEN-FUELLED VESSELS. MarHySafe JDP Phase 1. Norway: DNV. https://www.dnv.com/maritime/publications/handbook-for-hydrogen-fuelledvessels-download.html (Accessed 2022-01-09).
- E4ships. (n.d.). ELEKTRA. https://www.e4ships.de/english/inlandshipping/elektra/ (Accessed 2021-12-11).
- EARTO. (2014). The TRL Scale as a Research & Innovation Policy Tool, EARTO Recommendations. EARTO. https://www.earto.eu/wpcontent/uploads/The_TRL_Scale_as_a_R_I_Policy_Tool_-_EARTO_Recommendations_-_Final.pdf (Accessed 2022-02-04).
- EC (European Commission). (2019). COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION-The European Green Deal. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52019DC0640 (Accessed 2021-11-18).

EC (European Commission). (2020). COMMUNICATION FROM THE COMMISSION TO THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT, THE COUNCIL, THE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COMMITTEE AND THE COMMITTEE OF THE REGIONS-A hydrogen strategy for a climate-neutral Europe. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0301 (Accessed 2021-11-18).

- EC (European Commission). (2021a). INNOVATION AND NETWORKS EXECUTIVE AGENCY. HySeas III-Realising the world's first sea-going hydrogen-powered RoPax ferry and a business model for European islands. https://ec.europa.eu/inea/en/horizon-2020/projects/h2020transport/waterborne/hyseas-iii (Accessed 2021-11-18).
- EC (European Commission). (2021b). Proposal for a REGULATION OF THE EUROPEAN PARLIAMENT AND OF THE COUNCIL on the use of renewable and low-carbon fuels in maritime transport and amending Directive 2009/16/EC.

https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/fueleu_maritime_-

_green_european_maritime_space.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-18).

- EC-LIFE (European Commission-LIFE Public Database). (2021). Zero.Emission.Ships- Reference: LIFE06 ENV/D/000465 | Acronym: ZEM/SHIPS.https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/life/publicWebsite/project/details/ 2657# (Accessed 2021-12-05).
- Edwards, P.P, Kuznetsov, V.L, and David, W.I.F (2007). Hydrogen energy. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences, 365(1853): 1043–1056. doi:10.1098/rsta.2006.1965.
- Elder, W., National Park Service (NPS). (2020). What is Climate Change?. https://www.nps.gov/goga/learn/nature/climate-change-causes.htm (Accessed 2021-08-28).
- El-Gohary, M. M. (2013). Overview of past, present and future marine power plants. Journal of Marine Science and Application, 12(2): 219–227. doi:10.1007/s11804-013-1188-8.
- El Gohary, M. M. and Seddiek, I. S. (2013). Utilization of alternative marine fuels for gas turbine power plant onboard ships. International Journal of Naval Architecture and Ocean Engineering, 5(1): 21-32. doi:10.2478/ijnaoe-2013-0115.
- ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE. (2021a). ENERGY-CHALLENGE-2021-GENERAL-RANKING-ALL-CLASSES. ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE. https://energyboatchallenge.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/ENERGY-CHALLENGE-2021-GENERAL-RANKING-ALL-CLASSES.pdf (Accessed 2022-02-01).
- ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE. (2021b). A first for refuelling in Monaco. https://energyboatchallenge.com/en/a-first-for-refuelling-in-monaco/ (Accessed 2022-02-02).
- Energy Observer. (2018). Jules Verne 2, a new hydrogen-powered passenger vessel. https://www.energy-observer.org/innovations/jules-verne-2-navibus-nantes-hydrogen-propulsion (Accessed 2021-12-21).
- Energy Observer. (2021a). Energy balance from San Francisco to Hawaii. https://www.energy-observer.org/innovations/energy-balance-sanfrancisco-hawaii (Accessed 2021-12-18).
- Energy Observer. (2021b). Press kit. Energy Observer. March. https://energy-

observer.imgix.net/documents/Energy_Observer_Press_Kit_2021_English. pdf (Accessed 2021-11-18).

- Enova SF. (2021). Hydrogenfergen MF Hidle. https://presse.enova.no/images/hydrogenfergen-mf-hidle-2123886 (Accessed 2021-12-13).
- EU (European Union). (2016). Consolidated version of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. PART THREE UNION POLICIES AND INTERNAL ACTIONS. TITLE XX-ENVIRONMENT. Article 191 (ex Article 174 TEC). Official Journal of the European Union. http://data.europa.eu/eli/treaty/tfeu_2016/art_191/oj (Accessed 2021-11-18).
- Fahnestock, J.and Bingham, C. (2021). Mapping of Zero Emission Pilots and Demonstration Projects. Second edition. Getting to Zero Coalition. https://www.globalmaritimeforum.org/content/2021/03/Mapping-of-Zero-Emission-Pilots-and-Demonstration-Projects-Second-edition.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-10).
- Fawzy, S., Osman, A. I., Doran, J., and Rooney, D. W. (2020). Strategies for mitigation of climate change: a review. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 18: 2069–2094. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10311-020-01059-w.
- FINCANTIERI. (2020). FINCANTIERI: DRY DOCK WORKS START FOR EXPERIMENTAL VESSEL ZEUS. FINCANTIERI. 23 September. https://www.fincantieri.com/globalassets/press-releases/non-pricesensitive/2020/cs-impostazione-zeus def en.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-24).
- FINCANTIERI SI. (n.d.). ZEUS (ZERO EMISSION ULTIMATE SHIP). https://www.fincantierisi.it/innovation (Accessed 2022-01-27).
- FLAGSHIPS. (n.d.a). FLAGSHIPS-Clean waterborne transport in Europe. https://flagships.eu/ (Accessed 2021-12-08).
- FLAGSHIPS. (n.d.b). Raising the readiness of zero-emission waterborne transport. https://flagships.eu/about/ (Accessed 2022-01-28).
- FLAGSHIPS. (2019). Presenting the FLAGSHIPS H2 ferry. https://flagships.eu/2019/10/04/presenting-the-flagships-h2/ (Accessed 2021-11-09).
- FLAGSHIPS. (2020). Raising the readiness of hydrogen-powered waterborne transport to a new level globally. Resources-FLAGSHIPS brochure. https://flagships.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Flagships-Brochure-web.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-20).
- FLAGSHIPS. (2021). World's first hydrogen cargo vessel set for Paris debut. https://flagships.eu/2021/04/07/worlds-first-hydrogen-cargo-vessel-set-forparis-debut/ (Accessed 2021-10-20).
- Fondation PlanetSolar. (n.d.). HISTORY. https://www.planetsolar.swiss/en/world-premiere/history/ (Accessed 2021-12-14).
- FPS (Future Proof Shipping). (n.d.). FPS Maas Retrofit Project. https://futureproofshipping.com/projects/the-maas/ (Accessed 2021-12-221).
- Fridell, É. (2019). Chapter 2-Emissions and Fuel Use in the Shipping Sector. In Bergqvist, R. and Monios, J. (eds.). Green Ports-Inland and Seaside Sustainable Transportation Strategies. Elsevier, 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814054-3.00002-5.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2003). First yacht with certified fuel cell propulsion. Fuel

Cells Bulletin, 2003(12): 4–5. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(03)00015-4.

- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2004). Expanded team for marine H₂ technology. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2004(3): 3–4. doi.org/10.1016/S1464-2859(04)00105-1.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2006). Fuel cell boat at Dutch solar yacht race. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2006(7): 9. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(06)71126-9.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2009). Austrian collaboration unveils hydrogen fuel cell boat. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2009(7):5. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(09)70211-1.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2011). Hydrogenics to deliver fuel cell modules for NYC hybrid ferry. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2011(4): 3–4. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(11)70104-3.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2012). Turkish fuel cell boat powered, refuelled by Hydrogenics tech. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2012(3): 2–3. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(12)70061-5.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2013). First hydrogen fuel cell powered ferry in UK demos green tech. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2013(7): 4. doi:10.1016/S1464-2859(13)70249-9.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2016). CMR Prototech plans first hydrogen ferry in Norway, with fuel cells. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2016(5): 3. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(16)30102-x.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2017). Fiskerstrand wins Norwegian funding to design fuel cell ferry. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2017(1): 14–15. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(17)30032-9.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2018). Ballard modules used in successful Yanmar boat test in Japan. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2018(5), 5–6. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(18)30153-6.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2019a). Nedstack fuel cells for Ulstein SX190 offshore construction vessel. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019(12): 4. doi.org/10.1016/S1464-2859(19)30502-4.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2019b). Havyard wins grant to develop coastal vessels powered by fuel cells. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019(1): 5–6. doi:10.1016/S1464-2859(19)30011-2.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2019c). Ballard receives order from Behala to power German push boat. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2019(11): 7–8. doi:10.1016/S1464-2859(19)30466-3.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2020). Dutch coalition plans first fuel cell powered inland waterway vessel. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2020(6): 4. doi:10.1016/S1464-2859(20)30229-7.
- Fuel Cells Bulletin. (2021). Hydrogen-powered high-speed vessel for the Port of Narvik. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2021(12): 10-11. doi:10.1016/S1464-2859(21)00654-4.
- Gerard, P.F. (n.d.). Une navette fluviale HYDROGÈNE-transporte piétons et cyclistes sans émission de CO2. Semitan. https://semitan.tan.fr/medias/fichier/190187-semitan-fiche-technique-navette-fluviale-205x297-0919_1581687055755-

pdf?ID_FICHE=63072&INLINE=FALSE (Accessed 2022-01-29).

- GGZEM (Golden Gate Zero Emission Marine). (n.d.). PROJECTS. https://ggzeromarine.com/projects/ (Accessed 2021-12-13).
- Goncalves, C., Gibson, C., and Melling, A. (2021). BRG ENERGY BRIEF-The Impact of Hydrogen Technology on Long-Term Natural Gas Supply Contracts. BRG ENERGY & CLIMATE. https://media.thinkbrg.com/wp-

content/uploads/2021/02/09121431/BRG-EnergyBrief-

HydrogenTech_2021_clean.pdf (Accessed 2021-09-14).

- Goodwin, A. and Storaker, K. H. (2015). Hydrogen in the Maritime Sector-A feasibility study on hydrogen as fuel in Norwegian ferries. Master Thesis. Norwegian School of Economics. https://openaccess.nhh.no/nhhxmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2383310/masterthesis.pdf?sequence=1&isAll owed=y.
- Grannas, A. (2019). Optimization of local renewable hydrogen production for ferry operation and export on Åland. Master's thesis, Aalto University. https://aaltodoc.aalto.fi/bitstream/handle/123456789/40796/master_Granna s_Amanda_2019.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y.
- Harrould-Kolieb, E. (2008). SHIPPING IMPACTS ON CLIMATE: A SOURCE WITH SOLUTIONS. USA: Oceana. https://europe.oceana.org/sites/default/files/reports/Oceana_Shipping_Rep ort1.pdf (Accessed 2021-08-29).
- Havyard. (2019). Prototype for hydrogen one step closer. https://www.havyard.com/news/2019/prototype-for-hydrogen---one-stepcloser/ (Accessed 2021-12-07).
- Hornfeld, W. (2003). DeepC: The New Deep Water AUV Generation. In Volume 3: Materials Technology; Ocean Engineering; Polar and Arctic Sciences and Technology; Workshops: ASME 2003 22nd International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering. Cancun, Mexico, 8-13 June, 713–721. doi:10.1115/OMAE2003-37358.
- Hürriyet Daily News. (2011). Eco-friendly boat produced in Turkey. https://www.hurriyetdailynews.com/eco-friendly-boat-produced-in-turkey-9272 (Accessed 2021-12-21).
- HyDIME (Hydrogen Diesel Injection in a Marine Environment). (n.d.). The Word's first Hydrogen dual fuel RoPax ferry-HyDIME. https://hydime.co.uk/ (Accessed 2022-01-04).
- Hydrogen House Project. (n.d.). HYDROGEN FUEL CELL DUFFY-HERRESHOFF WATERTAXI. https://hydrogenhouseproject.org/duffyherreshoff-watertaxi.html (Accessed 2021-12-05).
- Hydrogenics. (2013). Hydrogenics Marine Applications-Electrolysers and Fuel Cell Power Modules & Systems. Hydrogenics. http://www.eurosfaire.prd.fr/7pc/documents/1374148248_hydrogenics_ec_f ch_ju_marine_workshop_2013_06_14submitted.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-08).

Hyon. (n.d.). Our projects. https://hyon.energy/projects (Accessed 2022-01-06).

- HySeas III. (2021). Ship Design First Look. https://www.hyseas3.eu/newsmedia/ship-design-first-look/ (Accessed 2021-12-19).
- Hyseas Energy. (n.d.). Pilote project-A hydrogen passenger shuttle for the Côte d'Azur. http://hyseas.energy/#hyledor (Accessed 2022-01-08).
- IMO-Norway GreenVoyage2050 Project, E4tech and Houlder. (2021). Alternative fuels and energy carriers for shipping Workshop. https://greenvoyage2050.imo.org/workshop-packages/ (Accessed 2021-09-12).
- IMO (International Maritime Organization). (2018). UN body adopts climate change strategy for shipping. https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/PressBriefings/Pages/06GHGinitialstr ategy.aspx (Accessed 2021-08-26).

- IMO (International Maritime Organization). (2021). Cutting GHG emissions from shipping - 10 years of mandatory rules. https://www.imo.org/en/MediaCentre/PressBriefings/pages/DecadeOfGHG Action.aspx (Accessed 2021-08-29).
- Interreg North-West Europe H2SHIPS. (2021). H2SHIPS System-Based Solutions for H2-Fuelled Water Transport in North-West Europe. https://www.nweurope.eu/projects/project-search/h2ships-system-basedsolutions-for-h2-fuelled-water-transport-in-north-west-europe/ (Accessed 2021-10-30).
- Jones, M.D.H., Henderson-Sellers, A. (1990). History of the greenhouse effect. Progress in Physical Geography, 14(1): 1–18. doi:10.1177/030913339001400101.
- Jong, G. D. and Corrignan, P. (2009). Guidelines for the safe application of fuel cell systems on ships. In Annual Marine Propulsion Conference. London. 11-12 March. https://marineoffshore.bureauveritas.com/sites/g/files/zypfnx136/files/pdf/Guidelines%20f or%20the%20safe%20application%20of%20fuel%20cell%20systems%20o n%20ships.pdf.
- Kim, H., Koo, K. Y., and Joung, T.-H. (2020). A study on the necessity of integrated evaluation of alternative marine fuels. Journal of International Maritime Safety, Environmental Affairs, and Shipping 4(2): 26-31. doi: 10.1080/25725084.2020.1779426.
- Klebanoff, L. (2019). The Zero-V: Feasibility of a Liquid Hydrogen Fueled Coastal Research Vessel. Sandia National Laboratories. https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1645560 (Accessed 2021-11-17).
- Korkmaz, S. A., and Cerit, A. G. (2016). APPLICATIONS OF FUEL CELL TECHNOLOGIES IN SHIPS AND A SYSTEM DYNAMICS APPROACH. In Alkan, G., Kara, G., Nas, S., Kara, E.G. E., and Yildiz, M. (eds.). GMC2016-Global Maritime Conference-Conference Proceedings Book: THE SECOND GLOBAL CONFERENCE ON INNOVATION IN MARINE TECHNOLOGY AND THE FUTURE OF MARITIME TRANSPORTATION. Bodrum, Muğla, Turkey, 24-25 October. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318014465_APPLICATIONS_OF _FUEL_CELL_TECHNOLOGIES_IN_SHIPS_AND_A_SYSTEM_DYNAMI CS_APPROACH.
- Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Dec. 11, 1997, 2303 U.N.T.S. 162. https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.

Lateral Engineering. (n.d.). AQUA. https://www.lateral.engineering/projects/aqua/ (Accessed 2022-01-27).

- Leiner, R. (2014). Solar radiation and water for emission-free marine mobility. In 2014 IEEE International Energy Conference (ENERGYCON). Cavtat, Croatia, 13-16 May, 1425–1428. doi:10.1109/energycon.2014.6850609.
- Lensing, D. (2020). A study on the integration of a novel NaBH₄ fuelled hybrid system for a small inland vessel. Master Thesis. TU Delft. https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid%3Afa7d9b0b-e866-49a2-985c-4bded6f08c01.
- LR and UMAS (Lloyd's Register and University Maritime Advisory Services). (2020). Techno-economic assessment of zero-carbon fuels. London: Lloyd's Register. https://www.lr.org/en/insights/global-marine-trends-

2030/techno-economic-assessment-of-zero-carbon-fuels/ (Accessed 2022-02-04).

- Madsen, R. T., Klebanoff, L. E., Caughlan, S. A. M., Pratt, J. W., Leach, T. S., Appelgate, T. B., Kelety, S. Z., Wintervoll, H.-C., Haugom, G. P., Teo, A. T. Y., and Ghosh, S. (2020). Feasibility of the Zero-V: A zero-emissions hydrogen fuel-cell coastal research vessel. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 45(46): 25328-25343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.06.019.
- Maeda, T., Ishiguro, S. J., Yokoyama, K., Hirokawa, K., Hashimoto, A., Okuda, Y., and Tani, T. (2004). Development of Fuel Cell AUV "URASHIMA". Mitsubishi Heavy Industries, Ltd. Technical Review, 41(6). https://www.mhi.co.jp/technology/review/pdf/e416/e416344.pdf.
- Manner, T. E. K. (2021). Governing sustainability to international maritime transportation of goods: Towards GHG emissions reductions. Master Thesis. University of Helsinki. https://helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/331014.
- MARANDA (Marine application of a new fuel cell powertrain validated in demanding arctic conditions). (n.d.). MARANDA. https://projectsites.vtt.fi/sites/maranda/index.html (Accessed 2021-12-19).
- McConnell, V. P. (2010). Now, voyager? The increasing marine use of fuel cells. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2010(5): 12-17. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(10)70166-8.
- MÉDITERRANÉE DU FUTUR. (n.d.). Hynovar. https://mediterraneedufutur.com/en/projects/hynovar/ (Accessed 2022-01-08).
- Mikhaylov, A., Moiseev, N., Aleshin, K., and Burkhardt, T. (2020). Global Climate Change and Greenhouse Effect. Entrepreneurship and SUstainability Issues, 7: 2897-2913. http://doi.org/10.9770/jesi.2020.7.4(21).
- Millennium Cell. (2003). FUEL CELL BOAT ON DISPLAY DURING WORLD MARITIME CONFERENCE-Millennium Cell, Seaworthy, Duffy Boat, and Anuvu Exhibit Water Taxi in San Francisco. Millennium Cell. 20 October. https://hydrogenus.org/Press%20releases/MilleniumCellOct20.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-06).
- Momirlan, M., and Veziroglu, T. N. (2005). The properties of hydrogen as fuel tomorrow in sustainable energy system for a cleaner planet. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 30(7): 795–802. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.10.011.
- MSC.1/Circ 1455. (2013). IMO Guidelines for the approval of alternatives and equivalents as provided for in various IMO instruments. https://www.mardep.gov.hk/en/msnote/pdf/msin1339anx1.pdf.
- MSC 95/22/Add.1. (2015). ANNEX 1-RESOLUTION MSC.391(95) (adopted on 11 June 2015)-ADOPTION OF THE INTERNATIONAL CODE OF SAFETY FOR SHIPS USING GASES OR OTHER LOW-FLASHPOINT FUELS (IGF CODE). https://www.register-iri.com/wpcontent/uploads/MSC_Resolution_39195.pdf.

MSC 98/23Add.2. (2018). Revised guidelines for Formal Safety Assessment (FSA) for use in the IMO rule-making process, Annex 26. Draft MSC-MEPC Circular: MSC-MEPC.2/Circ.12/Rev.2. IMO. http://shippingregs.org/Portals/2/SecuredDoc/Circulars/MSC%2098-23-Add.2%20%20Report%20Of%20The%20Maritime%20Safety%20Committee%20OnIt s%20Ninety-Eighth%20Session%20(Secretariat).pdf?ver=2017-10-19-080629-960.

- MSN (MARINE SERVICE NOORD). (2020). MARINE SERVICE NOORD BUILDS HYDROGEN POWERED RESCUE BOAT. https://marine-servicenoord.com/en/news/marine-service-noord-builds-hydrogen-poweredrescue-boat/ (Accessed 2022-01-02).
- Munkvold, M. K. S. (2020). Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of a hydrogen fuel cell and dieselpowered high-speed passenger catamaran. Master Thesis. Norges teknisk-naturvitenskapelige universitet (NTNU). https://hdl.handle.net/11250/2779630.
- Nazir, H., Muthuswamy, N., Louis, C., Jose, S.,..., Iranzo, A., and Kannan, A. M. (2020). Is the H₂ economy realizable in the foreseeable future? Part II: H₂ storage, transportation, and distribution. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 45(41): 20693-20708. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.05.241.
- NCE MCT (NCE Maritime CleanTech). (n.d.). ZeFF Zero Emission Fast Ferry. https://maritimecleantech.no/project/zeff-zero-emission-fast-ferry/ (Accessed 2021-12-18).
- NCE MCT (NCE Maritime CleanTech). (2019). Norwegian future value chains for liquid hydrogen. NCE Maritime CleanTech (NCE MCT). https://maritimecleantech.no/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Report-liquidhydrogen.pdf (Accessed 2021-09-14).
- Ni, P., Wang, X., and Li, H. (2020). A review on regulations, current status, effects and reduction strategies of emissions for marine diesel engines. Fuel, 279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2020.118477.
- Nikolaidis, P., and Poullikkas, A. (2017). A comparative overview of hydrogen production processes. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 67: 597–611. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2016.09.044.
- Nonstop-The Magazine for customers and Business Partners. (2008). Environment-Clean Machines. Edition 3. Germany: Germanischer Lloyd. https://epub.sub.uni-

hamburg.de/epub/volltexte/2014/28843/pdf/nonstop_2008_03_E.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-07).

- Norwegian Ship Design. (2021). Norwegian Ship Design chosen to design the world's first hydrogen powered cargo ship. https://www.norwegianshipdesign.no/archive/with-orca-powered-by-nature (Accessed 2022-01-06).
- NOW GmbH. (n.d.). ELEKTRA -Technische Lösungsansätze für die Realisierung eines durch Brennstoffzellen und Akkumulatoren betriebenen Schubbootes. https://www.now-gmbh.de/projektfinder/elektra/ (Accessed 2021-12-11).
- NYK Group. (2016). NYK Super Eco Ship 2050. NYK Group. https://www.nyk.com/english/esg/pdf/ecoship2050_en.pdf (Accessed 2022-02-03).
- OSD-IMT. (2019). Design Waves. OSD-IMT. September. https://www.osdimt.com/-/media/osd/news/2019/new-newsletter-is
 - here/osd_imt_waves_september_2019.pdf?la=en (Accessed 2022-01-28).
- Paris Agreement to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Dec. 12, 2015, T.I.A.S. No. 16-1104. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/english_paris_agreement.pdf.

- Parthasarathy, P., and Narayanan, K. S. (2014). Hydrogen production from steam gasification of biomass: Influence of process parameters on hydrogen yield – A review. Renewable Energy, 66: 570–579. doi:10.1016/j.renene.2013.12.025.
- PIRIOU. (2020). PIRIOU develops Crew Transfer Vessel (CTV) with hydrogen hybrid propulsion. PIRIOU. 20 November. https://www.piriou.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/piriou-i-press-release-i-piriou-develops-ctv-with-hydrogen-hybrid-propulsion_20-11-2020.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-04).
- PIRIOU. (2021). PIRIOU deals with French Occitanie Region for the design and realization of a trailing suction hopper dredger equipped with hydrogen fuel cell.
 PITIOU. 10 June. https://www.piriou.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/piriou-press-release-i-occitanie-region-order-for-airlift-hydrogen-dredger-i-2021-06-10-1.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-28).
- Platzer, M. F., and Sarigul-Klijn, N. (2021). The Green Energy Ship Concept: Renewable Energy from Wind Over Water. SpringerBriefs in Applied Sciences and Technology. Switzerland: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-58244-9.
- Plump, R., Rohde, F., Pape, B., and Sames, Dr. P.C. (2013). The "zeroemission perspective" from a vision to a real perspective / the energy turnaround at sea. Germanischer Lloyd. https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/377/dokumente /25_session_ii_1_plump.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-22).
- Port of Amsterdam. (2021). En de naam is... . https://www.portofamsterdam.com/nl/nieuws/en-de-naam (Accessed 2021-12-10).
- Qyyum, M. A., Dickson, R., Ali Shah, S. F., Niaz, H., Khan, A., Liu, J. J., and Lee, M. (2021). Availability, versatility, and viability of feedstocks for hydrogen production: Product space perspective. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 145. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2021.110843.
- Race for Water Foundation. (2018). 2017-2021 RACE FOR WATER ODYSSEY-A revolutionary boat, a crucial mission for the oceans. Race for Water Foundation.

https://www.raceforwater.org/app/uploads/2018/09/dossier-de-presse-2018-r4wo-eng-links.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-16).

- Reinertsen New Energy. (2018). Screening study–Technical note "Tjeldbergodden Hydrogen". Reinertsen New Energy. https://mrfylke.no/media/filer/kompetanse-og-naering/naering/tidligproduksjon-av-hydrogen-paa-tjeldbergodden (Accessed 2021-12-16).
- Rødne. (2019). E-Maran: Rapport fase 2-Konsortiet Rødne Trafikk AS. Rødne. https://www.trondelagfylke.no/contentassets/bd8d4260feb14f6bb7503ddc6 360e168/rodne-sluttrapport-offentlig.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-18).
- Rohde, F., Pape, B., and Nikolajsen, C. (2013). Zero-Emission Ferry Concept for Scandlines. Schiffbautechnische Gesellschaft e.V. https://www.stgonline.org/onTEAM/shipefficiency/programm/07-Fridtjof-Rohde.pdf.
- Royal IHC. (2021). ROYAL IHC RECEIVES APPROVAL IN PRINCIPLE FOR HYDROGEN-FUELLED TSHD. https://www.royalihc.com/en/news/royalihc-receives-approval-in-principle-for-hydrogen-fuelled-tshd (Accessed 2022-01-27).
- Sartbaeva, A., Kuznetsov, V. L., Wells, S. A., and Edwards, P. P. (2008). Hydrogen nexus in a sustainable energy future. Energy & Environmental

Science, 1(1): 79-85. doi:10.1039/b810104n.

- S.A.T.E. (Systems & Advanced Technologies Engineering). (n.d.). 18R VEZ Vaporetto a Zero Emissioni – 2014-2015. http://sate-italy.com/new/18r-vezvaporetto-a-zero-emissioni-2014-2015/ (Accessed 2022-01-08).
- Saverys, A. (2020). Waterstof voor Maritieme Toepassingen. Congres "Waterstof the next level !". CMB Technologies. https://www.waterstofnet.eu/_asset/_public/WIC/congres2020presentaties/ CMB-TECH-Waterstof-voor-Maritieme-Toepassingen-7-december-2020.pdf (Accessed 2021-10-31).
- Selin, H., Zhang, Y., Dunn, R., Selin, N. E., and Lau, A. K. H. (2021). Mitigation of CO₂ emissions from international shipping through national allocation. Environmental Research Letters, 16. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abec02.
- Somerville, R., Le Treut, H., Cubasch, U., Ding, Y., Mauritzen, C., Mokssit, A., Peterson, T., and Prather, M. (2007). Chapter 1-Historical Overview of Climate Change Science. In Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K., Tignor M., and Miller H.L. (eds.). Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA: Cambridge University Press, 93-127. https://www.ipcc.ch/report/ar4/wg1/ (Accessed 2021-08-25).
- Strømgren. T/ Ocean Hyway Cluster, Brødrene Aa, Westcon Power & Automation and Boreal Sjø. (2017). Rapport fase 2-Utviklingskontrakt utslippsfri hurtigbåt, Doffin 2017-138144. https://www.trondelagfylke.no/contentassets/bd8d4260feb14f6bb7503ddc6 360e168/brodrene-aa-sluttrapport-offentlig.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-08).
- Sturm, H. (2016). Bonn Climate Project ; Hydra Clean Energy Boats by Hydrogengas and Fuel Cells. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/308699935_Bonn_Climate_Proje ct_Hydra_Clean_Energy_Boats_by_Hydrogengas_and_Fuel_Cells.
- Sundén, B. (2019). Chapter 3-Hydrogen. In Hydrogen, Batteries and Fuel Cells. Academic Press, 37–55. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-816950-6.00003-8.
- Svendsen, T. and Opdahl, A. H. (2017). Technology update on hydrogen-driven vessels. CMR Prototech. https://maritimecleantech.no/wpcontent/uploads/2016/11/Technology-update-on-hydrogen-driven-vessels-MCT-Haugesund-22.02.2017-v3.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-11).
- TC.1/Circ.69. (2017). LINKAGES BETWEEN IMO'S TECHNICAL ASSITANCE WORK AND THE 2030 AGENDA FOR SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT. TC (Technical Cooperation Committee)-IMO https://www.cdn.imo.org/localresources/en/MediaCentre/HotTopics/Docume nts/TC.1-Circ.69.pdf.
- TECO 2030 ASA. (2021). TECO 2030 is leading a project group that will build a hydrogen-powered high-speed vessel for the Port of Narvik. TECO 2030 ASA. 25 November. https://kommunikasjon.ntb.no/irfiles/17847477/1017/1351/PressRelease_NarvikHavn_211125.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-02).
- Thyssenkrupp. (n.d.). Our Submarines. https://www.thyssenkruppmarinesystems.com/en/products-services/submarines (Accessed 2021-12-10).

Tijdgat, J. (2020). Shipping renewable hydrogen carriers. Master Thesis. TU Delft. http://resolver.tudelft.nl/uuid:49aaa8d3-4ff7-4e4a-a0b1e797468d9cb8.

Tokyo Kisen Co., Ltd. and e5 Lab Inc. (2019). "e5 Tug" – electric tug powered by battery and hydrogen fuel cell. Tokyo: e5 Lab Inc. https://www.e5ship.com/pdf/2019-10-29.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-22).

Torvanger, A. (2021). Hydrogen for shipping-Opportunities for Norway. CICERO Center for International Climate and Environmental Research - Oslo. https://pub.cicero.oslo.no/ciceroxmlui/bitstream/handle/11250/2755909/Rapport%202020%2004%20-

%20web.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Accessed 2021-10-22).

- Toyota Tsusho Corporation. (2018). Toyota Tsusho Conducts Joint Research with Yanmar on Fuel Cell System for Boats-Toward the Creation of a Hydrogen Society by Expanding the Use of Hydrogen-. https://www.toyotatsusho.com/english/press/detail/180326_004178.html (Accessed 2021-12-13).
- Tronstad, T., Åstrand, H. H., Haugom, G. P., and Langfeldt, L. (2017). STUDY ON THE USE OF FUEL CELLS IN SHIPPING. EMSA European Maritime Safety Agency. Germany: DNV GL-Maritime. http://emsa.europa.eu/csnmenu/download/4545/2921/23.html (Accessed 2021-11-05).
- TU Delft Solar Boat Team. (n.d.). Hydro Motion. https://solarboatteam.nl/en/hydro-motion/ (Accessed 2021-12-24).
- TU Delft Solar Boat Team. (2021). TECH TALKS 2021 TU Delft Solar Boat Team. ENERGY BOAT CHALLENGE. https://energyboatchallenge.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/2-TU-DELFT-Solar-Boat-Team-Open-Sea-Class-Techtalk-pdf.pdf (Accessed 2021-12-24).
- ULSTEIN. (2020). ZERO-EMISSION TURBINE INSTALLATION IS TODAY'S REALITY. https://ulstein.com/news/zero-emission-turbine-installation-istodays-reality (Accessed 2022-01-06).
- ULSTEIN. (2021). ZERO-EMISSION OPERATIONS IN OFFSHORE CONSTRUCTION MARKET. https://ulstein.com/news/zero-emissionoperations-in-offshore-construction-market (Accessed 2021-10-22).
- UN SDGs (United Nations Sustainable Development Goals). (2019). News And Media, Communications materials, SDG POSTER AND INDIVIDUAL GOALS FOR WEB AND PRINT. https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/news/communicationsmaterial/ (Accessed 2021-09-07).
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). (n.d.). The Paris Agreement. https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-parisagreement/the-paris-agreement (Accessed 2021-08-14).
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). May 9, 1992. S. Treaty Doc No. 102–38, 1771 U.N.T.S. 107. https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change). (2019). Climate action and support trends. Germany: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC). https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/Climate_Action_Support_Trend s_2019.pdf (Accessed 2021-08-26).

University of Birmingham. (2007). Hydrogen Hybrid Canal Boat: Clean and

Silent Propulsion for the Inland Waterways. https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/news/latest/2007/09/21sep-hydrogen.aspx (Accessed 2021-12-04).

- USEPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). (2021). Overview of Greenhouse Gases. https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/overview-greenhouse-gases#carbon-dioxide (Accessed 2021-08-28).
- Van Hoecke, L., Laffineur, L., Campe, R., Perreault, P., Verbruggen, S. W., and Lenaerts, S. (2021). Challenges in the use of hydrogen for maritime applications. Energy & Environmental Science, 14(2): 815–843. doi:10.1039/d0ee01545h.
- Vasquez. A. (2019). HYNOVAR-Development and operation of a 100% Hydrogen powered passenger vessel. HySeas Energy. https://www.gceocean.no/media/2680/hynovar-passenger-vesselproject.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-08).
- Ventura, M., Santos, T. A., and Soares, C. G. (2020). Chapter 2-Ro-Ro ships and dedicated short sea shipping terminals. In Santos, T. A., and Soares, C. G. (eds.). Short Sea Shipping in the Age of Sustainable Development and Information Technology. Oxon: Routledge, 22-58. https://books.google.gr/books?id=_Tr3DwAAQBAJ&pg=PA27&lpg=PA27& dq=hybridship+project+passenger+capacity&source=bl&ots=VYNDyc47Qz &sig=ACfU3U2jNOIv1opZnaL8dpz9wrHcJ3loNg&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUK Ewj797qM9Yb0AhXL6aQKHUsEBFYQ6AF6BAgMEAM#v=onepage&q&f=f alse.
- Vogler, F, and Sattler, G. (2016). Chapter 3-Hydrogen-fueled marine transportation. In Ball, M., Basile, A., and Veziroğlu, T. N. (eds.). Compendium of Hydrogen Energy-Volume 4: Hydrogen Use, Safety and the Hydrogen Economy. Woodhead Publishing, 35–65. doi:10.1016/b978-1-78242-364-5.00003-8.
- WadDuurzaam. (n.d.). The Ecolution. https://wadduurzaam.nl/de-ecolutioninnovatief-en-duurzaam-zeiljacht/ (Accessed 2022-02-02).
- Water-Go-Round. (n.d.). SEA CHANGE (ex. WATER-GO-ROUND) PROJECT. https://watergoround.com/ (Accessed 2021-12-13).
- Weaver, G. and Barrett, S. (2003). Marine applications of fuel cell technology. Fuel Cells Bulletin, 2003(1): 11–12. doi:10.1016/s1464-2859(03)00134-2.
- Westcon Yards AS. (n.d.). Vessel information-MF Hydra. Westcon AS. https://assets-global.website-

files.com/5add8459c66eeb701d504fc3/6184f8aa1f99a165868d84ee_Bygg %2038%20Hydra%202021.pdf (Accessed 2022-02-02).

- Wilhelmsen. (2020a). HySHIP project clinches EUR 8M funding award. Wilhelmsen. 22 October. https://www.wilhelmsen.com/media-news-andevents/press-releases/2020/hyship-project-clinches-eur-8m-funding-award/ (Accessed 2021-10-23).
- Wilhelmsen. (2020b). Wilhelmsen's Topeka hydrogen project awarded NOK 219 million. Wilhelmsen. 17 December. https://www.wilhelmsen.com/media-news-and-events/pressreleases/2020/wilhelmsens-topeka-hydrogen-project-awarded-nok-219million/#:~:text=Going%20under%20the%20concept%20name,LH2)%20to %20the%20bunkering%20hubs (Accessed 2022-01-29).
- Wintershall Dea. (2020). With Hydrogen to Mittelplate. Wintershall Dea. 21 October.

https://wintershalldea.com/sites/default/files/media/files/PI_20_20_Mittelplat e_H2-Hybrid_en%20%281%29.pdf (Accessed 2022-01-27).

- Xing, H., Spence, S., and Chen, H. (2020). A comprehensive review on countermeasures for CO₂ emissions from ships. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 134. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2020.110222.
- YUE, X.-L., and GAO, Q.-X. (2018). Contributions of natural systems and human activity to greenhouse gas emissions. Advances in Climate Change Research, 9(4): 243-252. doi:10.1016/j.accre.2018.12.003.
- Zhou, L. (2005). Progress and problems in hydrogen storage methods. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 9(4): 395–408. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2004.05.005.
- Zerta, M., Schmidt, P., Weindorf, W., Bünger, U., Langfeldt, L., Scholz, B., Giebel, L.-V., Klemm, P., and Sattler, G. (2019). Strombasierte Kraftstoffe für Brennstoffzellen in der Binnenschifffahrt-Studie im Auftrag des BMVI. Berlin: NOW GmbH. https://www.now-gmbh.de/wpcontent/uploads/2020/09/now_studie-ship-fuel-1.pdf (Accessed 2021-11-07).
- Züttel, A. (2004). Hydrogen storage methods. Naturwissenschaften, 91: 157– 172. doi:10.1007/s00114-004-0516-x.